

Computation of harmonic functions on higher genus surfaces

Mickaël Nahon, Edouard Oudet

► To cite this version:

Mickaël Nahon, Edouard Oudet. Computation of harmonic functions on higher genus surfaces. 2024. hal-04899536

HAL Id: hal-04899536 https://hal.science/hal-04899536v1

Preprint submitted on 20 Jan 2025

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Copyright

Computation of harmonic functions on higher genus surfaces

Mickaël Nahon, Édouard Oudet †

Abstract

We introduce a method to compute efficiently and with arbitrary precision a basis of harmonic functions with prescribed singularities on a general compact surface of genus two and more. This basis is obtained as a composition of theta functions and the Abel-Jacobi map, which is approximated at spectral speed by complex polynomials. We then implement this method to compute harmonic extensions on genus 2 surfaces with boundary, that are described by their Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates and a smooth parametrization of the boundary. Finally, we prove the spectral convergence of the method for the harmonic extension.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	2
	1.1	Gluing procedure and Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates	3
	1.2	Main result	4
	1.3	Organisation of the paper	6
2	Son	ne facts and notations on compact Riemann surfaces	6
	2.1	Canonical basis of homology	6
	2.2	1-forms and Abel-Jacobi maps	7
	2.3	Theta functions and quasi-periodic functions with prescribed zeroes	8
	2.4	Weierstrass points	9
3	Con	struction of a basis	9
Ű	3.1	Computation of 1-forms	10
	3.2	Logarithmic singularities	11
	0.2 3 3	Polo of order 1	19
	0.0 3 4	Poles of order 2 to a	12
	0.4 2 5	Poles of order $a + 1$ to $2a + 1$	10
	3.0 9.6	Poles of order $y + 1$ to $2y + 1$	10
	3.0	Poles of order $2g + 2$ and more	14
	3.7	Adaptation to Weierstrass points	14
	3.8	Proof of the main results	14
4	Con	nputational approach	21
	4.1	Approximation of 1-forms	22
	4.2	Approximation of the period matrix and the Abel-Jacobi map	23
	4.3	Approximation of meromorphic function of logarithmic order and of order 1	25
	4.4	Approximation of meromorphic function of higher order by complex differentiation	26
	*Univ	. Grenoble Alpes, CNRS, Grenoble INP, LJK, 38000 Grenoble, France.	

Keywords: Harmonic functions, Laplace equation, Higher genus, Abel-Jacobi, Bernstein-Walsch 2020 Mathematic Subject Classification 30F15, 31A25, 31C12, 35C10, 65N15, 65N80

[†]Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CNRS, Grenoble INP, LJK, 38000 Grenoble, France.

5	Numerical harmonic extension in genus 2	26
6	Convergence of the least square approximation	28
A	Some meromorphic functions on genus 2 surfaces	33

1 Introduction

Harmonic functions are a ubiquitous class of functions that appear in potential theory, fluid dynamics, heat conduction, and more generally in solutions of various optimization problems. We are concerned with the following question: given a compact Riemannian surface S with boundary ∂S , and a function $g: \partial S \to \mathbb{R}$, how can we compute precisely and efficiently the harmonic extension

$$u: S \to \mathbb{R}$$
 such that $\begin{cases} \Delta u = 0 & \text{in } S \\ u = g & \text{in } \partial S \end{cases}$ (1.1)

When S is a bounded smooth subset of \mathbb{C} , one possible approach is through the use of Runge's theorem: choosing one point (which we will call *pole*) $(w_j)_{j=1,\dots,N}$ in each bounded component of $\mathbb{C}\backslash S$, then any harmonic function on S may be approached by functions of the form

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{j,0} \log |z - w_j| + \Re \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{m=1}^{n} a_{j,m} (z - w_j)^{-m} + \Re \sum_{m=0}^{n} b_m z^m$$
(1.2)

for some real coefficients $(a_{j,0})$ and complex coefficients $(a_{j,m})_{1 \leq m \leq n}$, $(b_m)_{0 \leq m \leq n}$ for some sufficiently large n. By matching the boundary data (for instance through a least square method on a sampling of the boundary) this gives an efficient method of approximation: this is discussed in the paper [12] with the approximation of Green functions. For a general analytic data one may expect a spectral speed of convergence, in the sense that there is a function u_n of the form (1.2) that approaches the solution u of (1.1) with

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|u - u_n\|_{L^{\infty}(S)}^{1/n} = q$$

where q(< 1) depends on how far the solution u extends harmonically beyond S. The full characterization of q is given by the Bernstein-Walsch theorem (see [14, Ch. VII] or [11, Th 6.3.1]).

Moreover this kind of approximation have been adapted to domains with less regularity, for instance in the series of papers [6, 7] in domains with angular points, where moving poles appropriatly close to the corners give $\mathcal{O}(e^{-c\sqrt{n}})$ approximation error, or [2] where this was applied to two-dimensional Stokes equation. See also the more recent paper [13] that explores the rate of convergence in smooth non-convex domains through a careful positioning of the poles.

This approach was generalized in [10] to the case where S is a subset of a torus, where the authors constructed a similar basis of solutions using the Weierstrass elliptic functions, which may be computed efficiently with high accuracy.

The goal of this paper is to generalize this approach to any compact surface: suppose that S is a smooth subset of some closed compact surface X, can we compute efficiently and precisely a basis of harmonic functions on X (with some poles) that will approximate any harmonic function on S?

As we will see, we need to compute two types of functions:

• Given two distinct points $v, w \in X$, we need a harmonic function $z \in X \setminus \{v, w\} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$G(z) = \log \operatorname{dist}(z - v) + \mathcal{O}_{z \to v}(1), \ G(z) = -\log \operatorname{dist}(z - w) + \mathcal{O}_{z \to w}(1),$$

where dist is the distance induced by the metric. When X is the Riemann sphere, this is the role played by $G(z) = \log \left| \frac{z-v}{z-w} \right|$.

• Given a point $w \in X$, and an integer $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 1}$, we need two harmonic functions defined on $X \setminus \{w\}$ with a pole of order n at w. This is the role played by

$$\Re((z-w)^{-n}), \ \Im((z-w)^{-n})$$

when X is the Riemann sphere. Note that these are obtained by taking the real and imaginary part of a fixed holomorphic function, but there is an obstruction to this property already when X is a torus instead: there is no meromorphic function with a unique pole of order 1.

The case where X is a subset of the Riemann sphere or of a torus is already known from [10], and the case where X is non-oriented may be deduced from the oriented case through an orientable double cover. Thus, we focus on the case where X is a compact oriented surface of genus $g \ge 2$.

We will suppose the surface X is given as a gluing of hyperbolic polygons, and in practice it will be given by the gluing of 4g-4 right-angled hyperbolic hexagon (see the next section for more detail on Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates): while this may seem restrictive, the uniformization theorem states that any higher genus surface is conformal to a surface of constant negative curvature, which may be decomposed as hexagons in this way. Since harmonic functions are preserved by conformal change of metric, we lose no generality with this assumption. Notice however that it is not trivial to compute this hexagon decomposition from a general non-uniformized surface.

In terms of efficiency, our goal is that for a fixed surface X, we may build once and for all the building blocks to compute directly a basis of harmonic function for any location of the poles: as we will see, our method requires the computation of g holomorphic functions that act as the coordinates of the Abel-Jacobi map.

1.1 Gluing procedure and Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates

In this section we fix a constructions of the surface X. Consider a finite number of hyperbolic polygons (meaning that their edges are hyperbolic geodesic) in the unit disk $\mathbb{D} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$ denoted as the closed sets $(H_p)_{p=1,\dots,m}$. We call $\gamma_{p,1},\dots,\gamma_{p,c(p)}$ the successive sides of H_p . We then consider a gluing rule for these polygons: each side $\gamma_{p,i}$ is glued to a unique side $\gamma_{q,j}$ (we write $(p,i) \to (q,j)$, and this is a symmetric relation) in the sense that there exists a disk automorphism $g_{p,i} \in PSU(1,1)$ where

$$PSU(1,1) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ \overline{\beta} & \overline{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(\mathbb{C}) : |\alpha|^2 - |\beta|^2 = 1 \right\} / \{\pm I_2\},$$

such that $g_{p,i}(\gamma_{p,i}) = \gamma_{q,j}$ and the sets $g_{p,i}(H_p)$ and H_q have disjoint interior. This implies in particular that glued sides have the same hyperbolic length, and the necessary and sufficient condition for this gluing rule to define a smooth surface is that around each vertex, the sum of the angular opening of all the vertices it is identified with is 2π : we will suppose this condition is verified.

Moreover, we will see the embeddings $H_p \to X$ (p = 1, 2, ..., m) as a system of charts, since these embedding may be extended to a small neighbourhood of the polygons.

A particular case of this decomposition is when each H_p is a right-angled hexagon. We remind that any three length $(l_1, l_2, l_3) \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ define (up to isometry) a unique right-angled hexagon where the first, third and fifth sides have respective hyperbolic lengths $l_1/2, l_2/2, l_3/2$.

Then any compact oriented surface of genus $g \ge 2$ is conformally equivalent to a hyperbolic surface obtained as the gluing of 4g - 4 right-angled hexagons with the following gluing rules: each hexagon associated to (l_1, l_2, l_3) is paired with a mirrored hexagon (of lengths (l_1, l_3, l_2)) by gluing the alternate side (and obtaining a pair of pants i.e. a hyperbolic compact surface with geodesic boundary that is homeomorphic to a sphere with three disks removed). The 2g - 2 pants are then associated by gluing boundary geodesics of same length, with a possible rotation in the gluing of the geodesics: this leaves a total of 6g - 6 independent parameters with 3g - 3 lengths (denoted $l_i > 0$) and 3g - 3 angles (denoted $t_i \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$), that constitute the Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates of the surface. This construction is illustrated in the genus 2 case in figure 1.



Figure 1: Gluing conditions associated to Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates: every geodesic is divided in four pieces. In this example $(l_1, t_1; l_2, t_2; l_3, t_3) = (\frac{3}{2}, \frac{1}{10}; 2, \frac{2}{10}; \frac{5}{2}, \frac{1}{8})$.

1.2 Main result

The principal contributions of this paper are both the explicit and computable construction of a basis of harmonic function with prescribed poles, and a complete convergence analysis of the associated discrete scheme: we establish a spectral convergence result for the approximation of harmonic functions which generalize the theorem of Bernstein-Walsch (see [14, Ch. VII] or [11, Th 6.3.1]) to general compact surfaces.

The construction of the basis is as follows:

- 1) We construct the Abel-Jacobi map $X \to \mathbb{C}^g/(\mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g)$, which is an holomorphic immersion of the surface in the complex torus $\mathbb{C}^g/(\mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g)$ (here τ is a symmetric matrix with positive imaginary part). While there seem to be no explicit way of constructing these functions, we give an elementary least-square method that provides us with a polynomial approximation of the Abel-Jacobi map on each hexagon of the decomposition. This step is independent of the location of the pole, meaning that for a given surface we only need to compute this function once to obtain the basis associated to any pole.
- 2) We construct the Green function associated to any two poles v, w, meaning a harmonic function $\log |\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}| : X \setminus \{v, w\} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\log |\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)| = \log |z - v| + \mathcal{O}_{z \to v}(1), \ \log |\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)| = -\log |z - w| + \mathcal{O}_{z \to w}(1).$$

This function is obtained as a composition of theta functions and Abel-Jacobi functions, as is detailed in subsection 3.2.

3) Finally, for a given generic pole w (in the sense that it is not a Weierstrass point, as is explained in subsection 2.4), we construct a sequence of functions

 $(\widehat{\wp}_n(z,w))_{1\leqslant n\leqslant g}, \ (\widecheck{\wp}_n(z,w))_{g+1\leqslant n\leqslant 2g+1}, \ (\widetilde{\wp}_n(z,w))_{n\geqslant 2g+2}$

that may respectively be found in the subsections 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, such that for fixed w, the *n*-th function of the sequence above is harmonic with respect to z with a unique pole at w of order n. More precisely up to a multiplicative constant they have the following asymptotic form near w:

$$\underbrace{\frac{1 + \mathcal{O}_{z \to w}(z - w)}{(z - w)^k}}_{\text{meromorphic}} + \underbrace{\mathcal{O}_{z \to w}(1)}_{\text{harmonic}}$$

4) The case where w is a Weierstrass point - something which is only possible for a finite number of points of the surface - needs only a small tweaking in the construction of the functions to work: the basis is instead

$$(\widehat{\wp}_n)_{1\leqslant n\leqslant 2g-1}, \ (\widecheck{\wp}_n)_{2g\leqslant n\leqslant 4g-1}, \ (\widetilde{\wp})_{n\geqslant 4g},$$

where the functions are constructed in a similar way. We refer to the subsection 3.7 for the modifications.

For any finite set $S \subset X$, $n \ge 1$, we denote by $\mathcal{H}_n(S)$ the set of harmonic function $h: X \setminus S \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $h(z) = \mathcal{O}_{z \to w} (d_X(z, w)^{-n})$ for each $w \in S$, where d_X is the hyperbolic distance in X.

Theorem 1. Let w_1, \ldots, w_N be non-Weierstrass points of X, then $\mathcal{H}_n(\{w_1, \ldots, w_N\})$ admits the following basis: the constant function, the functions

$$\log \left| \widehat{\sigma}_{w_j, w_{j+1}} \right|, \ j = 1, \dots, N-1$$

and the real and imaginary parts of

$$(\widehat{\wp}_k(\cdot, w_j))_{1 \leq k \leq g \wedge n}, \ (\widecheck{\wp}_k(\cdot, w_j))_{g+1 \leq k \leq (2g+1) \wedge n}, \ (\widetilde{\wp}_k(\cdot, w_j))_{2g+2 \leq k \leq n}, \ j = 1, \dots, N_{d}$$

In the case where one of the $(w_j)_{j=1,\dots,N}$ is a Weierstrass point, the result still holds with the modified basis; in fact we could use the modified basis in every case, but it is computationally more costly to do so.

For the next theorem, we introduce the Green function of a smooth open set $A \subset X$, denoted

$$\mathcal{G}_A : \begin{cases} \overline{A}^2 \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\} \\ (z,w) \mapsto \mathcal{G}_A(z,w) \end{cases},$$
(1.3)

the function that verifies

$$-\Delta_z \mathcal{G}_A(\cdot, w) = 2\pi \delta_w \text{ in } A, \ \mathcal{G}_A(z, w) = 0 \text{ for } (z, w) \in \partial A \times A.$$
(1.4)

We remind that \mathcal{G}_A is symmetric in (z, w). By classical potential theory, \mathcal{G}_A admits an extension to general open sets of X under the hypothesis that $X \setminus A$ has positive capacity. In this case it is in general no longer continuous up to the boundary, however in the case where no connected component of ∂A is reduced to a point, then it is known that every point of ∂A is regular i.e. $\lim_{z\to z_0} \mathcal{G}_A(z, w) = 0$ for every $z_0 \in \partial A$, $w \in A$ (see for instance [11, Th 4.2.2,4.4.9]). **Theorem 2.** Let X be a compact oriented surface of genus $g \ge 1$, let K be a compact subset of X such that none of its connected component is reduced to a point and X\K has a finite number of connected components, denoted D_1, \ldots, D_N . Let w_1, \ldots, w_N be a point in each D_j . Let h be a harmonic function defined on a neighbourhood of K, and h_n be the best $L^{\infty}(K)$ approximation of h by an element of $\mathcal{H}_n(\{w_1, \ldots, w_N\})$. Then for any t > 0 the two following properties are equivalent:

(a) h extends harmonically to $K \sqcup_{j=1}^{N} \{ \mathcal{G}_{D_j}(\cdot, w_j) < t \}.$

(b)
$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|h - h_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{1/n} \leq e^{-t}$$

This spectral speed of approximation is observed in solving the harmonic extension problem (see figure 6). We include the genus g = 1 case in the result and this is the only instance in the paper where genus 1 is involved: in this case the basis may be replaced with the (analogous) basis of [10, Th 1.2]. We will use the notations we introduce for genus $g \ge 2$ and will point out the difference between genus 1 and 2 in the proof.

1.3 Organisation of the paper

In the second section we introduce several well-known concept in compact Riemann surfaces: the notion of canonical basis of homology, the space of 1-form and the Abel-Jacobi map, the function Θ and its application to the construction of quasi-periodic meromorphic functions, and finally we remind several consequences of the Riemann-Roch theorem and some fact on Weierstrass points.

In the third section, we give a method to effectively construct the Abel-Jacobi map from polynomial approximation, and then the different elements of the basis of harmonic functions for fixed poles. We then prove the main results 1 and 2.

In the fourth section we detail the computational methods used to compute effectively the previously defined basis of harmonic functions with arbitrary precision, and we apply this in the fifth section to the harmonic extension problem in a surface.

In the last section, we give the technical details of the proof of convergence of the least-square method in the approximation of Abel-Jacobi map.

2 Some facts and notations on compact Riemann surfaces

We remind in this section some results of the space of 1-forms on a surface, on the Abel-Jacobi map and on Θ functions that will be used later to define our basis of harmonic functions.

2.1 Canonical basis of homology

Let us go back to the general construction of X by the gluing of the polygons H_1, H_2, \ldots, H_m introduced in subsection 1.1 (given for instance by the hexagon decomposition). Let Γ be the group of PSU(1, 1) that is generated from the compositions

$$g_{p_n,i_n} \circ g_{p_{n-1},i_{n-1}} \circ \ldots \circ g_{p_1,i_1}$$

where

- $p_1 = 1$.
- For all k = 1, ..., n-1 there exists $j \in \{1, ..., c(p_{k+1})\}$ such that $(p_k, i_k) \to (p_{k+1}, j)$.
- There exists $j \in \{1, \ldots, c(1)\}$ such that $(p_n, i_n) \to (1, j)$.

X may then be identified with the quotient \mathbb{D}/Γ through the mapping $z \in H_1 \mapsto z \mod \Gamma$, which extends uniquely to a conformal bijection $X \to \mathbb{D}/\Gamma$.

We fix in all that follows a canonical basis of homology of X, meaning a set of 2g closed curves $(a_i)_{i=1,\ldots,g}$ and $(b_i)_{i=1,\ldots,g}$ (which is, in our case, given by a sequence of hyperbolic segment in each polygon H_p ; the curves (a_i) and (b_i) need not be geodesic), such that up to homotopy $(a_i, a_j), (b_i, b_j), (a_i, b_j)$ do not intersect when $i \neq j$, and (a_i, b_i) intersect once with positive orientation. Each a_i (resp b_i) is homotopic to a unique simple geodesic loop and is associated (in the disk model) to an element A_i (resp B_i) of Γ that preserves a lifting of this geodesic. Up to reordering the curves appropriately then $A_1, B_1, A_2, B_2, \ldots, A_g, B_g$ is a generating family of Γ such that

$$A_1B_1A_1^{-1}B_1^{-1}A_2B_2A_2^{-1}B_2^{-1}\dots A_gB_gA_g^{-1}B_g^{-1} = I_2,$$

and this relation is sufficient to give a presentation of Γ . We refer to [4, I.2.5.] for the construction of a canonical 4g-gon from a general polygonal gluing.

2.2 1-forms and Abel-Jacobi maps

For a subset E of \mathbb{C} we denote by $\mathcal{O}(E)$ (resp $M\mathcal{O}(E)$) the set of holomorphic (resp meromorphic) functions defined on a neighbourhood of E.

We denote by $\Omega^k(X)$ (resp $\Omega^k(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma)$) the space of holomorphic k-forms on X (resp \mathbb{D}/Γ), and by $M\Omega^k(X)$ (resp $M\Omega^k(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma)$) the space of meromorphic k-forms on X (resp \mathbb{D}/Γ).

To be more precise, these are defined as follows: $\Omega^k(X)$ is the subset of holomorphic functions

$$f = (f_{|1}, \ldots, f_{|m}) \in \mathcal{O}(H_1) \times \ldots \times \mathcal{O}(H_m)$$

such that for every gluing $(p, i) \rightarrow (q, j)$ we have

$$f_{|p}(z) = (g'_{p,i}(z))^k f_{|q} \circ g_{p,i}(z) \text{ for } z \in \gamma_{p,i}.$$

Similarly, $\Omega^k(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma)$ is the subset of holomorphic functions $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D})$ such that

$$\forall z \in \mathbb{D}, \ \forall \gamma \in \Gamma, \ f(z) = \gamma'(z)^k f(\gamma(z)).$$
(2.1)

With our two constructions, the bijection between the spaces $\Omega^k(X)$ and $\Omega^k(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma)$ is as follows: for any $(f_{|1}, \ldots, f_{|m}) \in \Omega^k(X)$, each $f_{|p}$ extends holomorphically to some function $\tilde{f}_{|p}$ defined on the disk \mathbb{D} , and the map

$$\begin{cases} \Omega^k(X) \to \Omega^k(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma) \\ (f_{|1}, \dots, f_{|m}) \mapsto \tilde{f}_{|1} \end{cases}$$

is a bijection.

We remind that $\Omega^1(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma)$ is a finite dimensional space of dimension g, and we fix from now on a basis $(\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots, \omega_q)$ of $\Omega^1(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma)$ such that for any j, k:

$$\int_{a_j} \omega_k = \delta_{j,k}.$$
(2.2)

This way we may define the period matrix $\tau \in \text{Sym}_{a}(\mathbb{R})$:

$$\tau_{j,k} = \int_{b_j} \omega_k$$

 τ is a symmetric complex matrix, and $\Im(\tau)$ is positive definite.

We now define the **Abel-Jacobi** coordinate maps $u_j : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$u_j(z) = \int_0^z \omega_j.$$

 u_j is well-defined on \mathbb{D} , but does not pass to the quotient on \mathbb{D}/Γ because it verifies the partial periodicity relations

$$u_j(A_k(z)) = u_j(z) + \delta_{j,k}, \ u_j(B_k(z)) = u_j(z) + \tau_{j,k}$$

The Abel-Jacobi map based at the point 0 is then

$$u: \begin{cases} \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{C}^g\\ z \mapsto (u_1(z), u_2(z), \dots, u_g(z)) \end{cases}$$

It verifies the periodicity relations

$$u(A_j(z)) = u_j(z) + e_j, \ u(B_j(z)) = u(z) + \tau e_j$$
(2.3)

for all z. In particular, if $z' = \gamma(z)$ for some $\gamma \in \Gamma$, then

$$u(z') - u(z) \in \mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g$$

meaning that u defines a map from X to the 2g-dimensional torus $\mathbb{C}^{2g}/(\mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g)$. We also introduce the notation

$$u^{k}: \begin{cases} \mathbb{D}^{k} \to \mathbb{C}\\ (z_{1}, \dots, z_{k}) \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{k} u(z_{j}) \end{cases}$$

We denote $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathbb{C}^g$ the critical values of u^g : it is a set with (complex) dimension at most g-2, and it is caracterized as the set of points $\sum_{i=1}^g u(z_i)$ where

$$\det\left(\left(\omega_j(z_k)\right)_{1\leqslant j,k\leqslant g}\right)=0.$$

2.3 Theta functions and quasi-periodic functions with prescribed zeroes

Let us now define the function

$$\Theta(Z) := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^g} e^{i\pi(n \cdot \tau n + 2n \cdot Z)}, \ \forall Z \in \mathbb{C}^g.$$

In many references Θ is given (by the same formula) as a function of Z and τ , but since the matrix τ is fixed here we leave it out of the arguments. The function Θ verifies the following periodicity relations, for any $Z \in \mathbb{C}^g$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}^g$:

$$\Theta(Z+n) = \Theta(Z), \ \Theta(Z+\tau n) = \Theta(Z)e^{-i\pi(n\cdot\tau n+2n\cdot Z)}, \ \Theta(-Z) = \Theta(Z).$$
(2.4)

Let us define the Riemann constant $\mathcal{K} \in \mathbb{C}^{g}$ by its coordinates

$$\mathcal{K}_{j} = \frac{1}{2}\tau_{jj} - \sum_{k=1}^{g} \int_{0}^{A_{k}(0)} u_{j}(z)u_{k}'(z)dz$$

Theorem 3. $\{Z \in \mathbb{C}^g : \Theta(Z) = 0\} = \mathcal{K} + u^{g-1}(\mathbb{D}^{g-1})$. Moreover, for any $\xi \in \mathcal{K} + (u^g(\mathbb{D}^g) \setminus \mathcal{C})$ written as

$$\xi = \mathcal{K} + \sum_{j=1}^{g} u(w_j),$$

the function

$$z \mapsto \Theta(u(z) - \xi)$$

vanishes with order 1 at every element of $\{\gamma(w_j), \gamma \in \Gamma, j = 1, \dots, g\}$, and is non-zero elsewhere.

This is contained in [4, VI.3.2, VI.3.3]. Note that the condition on ξ imposes that the $(w_j)s$ must be distincts (modulo Γ). The periodicity conditions verified by this function are, for any j,

$$\Theta(u(A_j(z)) - \xi) = \Theta(u(z) - \xi), \ \Theta(u(B_j(z)) - \xi) = \Theta(u(z) - \xi)e^{2\pi i \left(\xi_j - u_j(z) - \frac{1}{2}\tau_{j,j}\right)}.$$
(2.5)

1

2.4 Weierstrass points

Let D be a divisor on X, represented as formal sum $D = \sum_{p \in X} n_p[p]$ where $n_p \in \mathbb{Z}$ is zero for all but a finite number of point, we denote by

$$\ell(D) = \dim(\{f \in M\Omega^0(X) : f = 0 \text{ or } (f) + D \ge 0)$$

where $(f) = \sum_{p \in X} \operatorname{ord}(f, p)[p]$ is the divisor associated to f. Let K be the divisor of some holomorphic 1-form, we remind that by the Riemann-Roch theorem:

$$\ell(D) - \ell(K - D) = \deg(D) - g + 1.$$

We summarize the result we will use as follows:

Proposition 4. Let $p \in X$, then $\ell(n[p])$ verifies

$$\ell(0[p]) = 1, \ \ell((n+1)[p]) - \ell(n[p]) \in \{0,1\}, \ \ell(n[p]) = n - g + 1 \ for \ any \ n \ge 2g - 1.$$

Moreover, there is a finite set of points $W \subset X$ called **Weierstrass points** such that for any $p \in X \setminus W$ we have

$$\ell(n[p]) = 1 + (n - g)_+.$$

p is a Weierstrass point if and only if

$$\det\left(\left(\omega_j^{(k-1)}(p)\right)_{1\leqslant j,k\leqslant g}\right)=0,$$

where this quantity is defined up to a (non-zero) multiplicative factor in \mathbb{D}/Γ .

By [4, Cor III.5.11], the cardinal of W is in the interval $[2g+2, g^3-g]$, and when g = 2 then W has exactly 6 element.

Applying the Riemann-Roch theorem to D = n[p], this may be reformulated as follows: $\ell(K - n[p])$ is the dimension of the space of 1-forms $\omega \in \Omega^1(X)$ that admits a zero of order at least n at p. So for any $p \in X$,

$$\ell(K - (2g - 1)[p]) = 0,$$

meaning that any 1-form that has a zero of order larger than 2g - 1 is zero everywhere, and if $p \in X \setminus W$ then

$$\ell(K - g[n]) = 0,$$

meaning that any 1-form that has a zero of order at least g at a non-Weierstrass point is zero everywhere. As a consequence:

Lemma 5. Let $z \in X$ (in some polygon H_p), the linear map $\omega \in \Omega^1(X) \mapsto (\omega_{|p}(z), \omega'_{|p}(z), \ldots, \omega_{|p}^{(2g-2)}(z)) \in \mathbb{C}^{2g-1}$ is injective, and if $z \in X \setminus W$ then the map $\omega \in \Omega^1(X) \mapsto (\omega_{|p}(0), \omega'_{|p}(z), \ldots, \omega_{|p}^{(g-1)}(z))$ is bijective.

3 Construction of a basis

We split this construction in several steps: first there is the "pre-treatment" that is independent of the location of the pole, where we compute a polynomial that approximates with high accuracy the Abel-Jacobi coordinate maps u. This allows us to compute the Riemann constant \mathcal{K} as well.

Next we build, for two fixed points v, w, the harmonic function with opposing logarithmic poles at v, w.

We then build for a fixed pole w the complex harmonic function with a single pole of order n at w: we start by constructing the pole of order 1 using the composition of the logarithmic derivative of the Θ function with a suitable translation of the Abel-Jacobi map. We then compute formally the successive derivative of this function along the location w of the pole.

This step is numerically costly, however once we've built sufficiently many meromorphic function with a pole at w, then the rest of the basis may be built by exponentiation of these functions: depending on whether the pole w is a Weierstrass point or not, we need to build by successive differentiation either 2g + 1 or 4g - 1 functions before all the rest may be built by exponentiation.

We will explain in detail the case where the pole w is **not** a Weierstrass point. We then explain afterward how to adapt it to this case.

3.1 Computation of 1-forms

This subsection relies heavily of the representation of X as a gluing of m hyperbolic polygons $(H_p)_{p=1,\dots,m}$, and we use the notations of section 1.1. We will suppose additionally that the first polygon H_1 contains the center of the disk 0, and that 0 is not a Weierstrass point.

For any $\omega \in \Omega^1(X)$, let us define the approximation space

$$\mathcal{A}^{N,\omega} = \left\{ P = (P_{|1}, \dots, P_{|m}) \in \mathbb{C}_{N}[X]^{m} : (P_{|1}(0), P_{|1}'(0), \dots, P_{|1}^{(g-1)}(0)) = (\omega_{|1}(0), \omega_{|1}'(0), \dots, \omega_{|1}^{(g-1)}(0)) \right\}$$

Let S(N) = aN for some $a \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 1}$ that will be taken large enough, and for any side $\gamma_{p,i}$ we denote by $\mathcal{S}_{p,i}$ a sampling of $\gamma_{p,i}$ by S(N) regularly spaced points.

For any $P = (P_{|1}, \ldots, P_{|m}) \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m$, we let

$$E^{N}(P) = \sum_{(p,i)\to(q,j)} \frac{1}{S(N)} \sum_{z\in\mathcal{S}_{p,i}} \left| P_{|p}(z) - g'_{p,i}(z) P_{|q}(g_{p,i}(z)) \right|^{2}$$

Finally, for any compact set $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ we let $\mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus K}(z, w)$ be its Green function defined as in equation (1.3),(1.4) (where the ambiant manifold is $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ in this case).

The main result of this section is the following:

Theorem 6. Let X be a surface defined as above, such that $0 \in H_1$ is not a Weierstrass point. Let $\rho \in]0,1[$ be such that

$$\rho > \exp\left(-\min_{p=1,\dots,m} \inf_{z \in \partial D} \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus H_p}(z,\infty)\right),\,$$

Then there exists a large enough integer a > 0 and a constant C > 0 such that for any $\omega \in \Omega^1(X)$, any $N \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq g}$, we denote by $Q^{N,\omega}$ the unique minimizer of E^N in $\mathcal{A}^{N,\omega}$ and we have:

$$\sum_{p=1}^{m} \|Q_{|p}^{N,\omega} - \omega_{|p}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)} \leq C\rho^N \sum_{j=0}^{g-1} |\omega_{|1}^{(j)}(0)|.$$

We prove in fact a more precise conclusion: there is a constant $C_a > 0$ (depending on the geometry and on *a*) such that for any $Q \in \mathcal{A}^{N,\omega}$:

$$\sum_{p=1}^{m} \|Q_{|p} - \omega_{|p}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)}^2 \leq C_a N^3 e^{\frac{C}{\sqrt{a}}N} E^N(Q).$$

Then the result follows from the fact that $\inf_{\mathcal{A}^{N,\omega}} \sqrt{E^N} = \mathcal{O}\left(\rho^N \sum_{j=0}^{g-1} |\omega_{|1}^{(j)}(0)|\right)$ for any such ρ , and taking *a* large enough: nowhere do we use the fact that $Q^{N,\omega}$ is a minimizer.

For now we relegate the proof of this theorem to the last section. Let us give some remarks on the optimality and the limitations of this result.

1) We may give a more explicit upper bound of ρ as follows: any ρ such that the open disk \mathbb{D}_{ρ} contains all the closed polygons $(H_p)_p$ verifies the hypothesis of the theorem. Indeed by maximum principle we would have $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{C}\backslash H_p}(z, \infty) \geq \log(z/\rho)_+$, so $\inf_{z \in \partial \mathbb{D}} \mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{C}\backslash H_p} \geq \log(1/\rho)$ (and the inequality would be strict by strong maximum principle).

- 2) The speed of convergence given here is optimal, in the sense that any ρ lower than the bound given in the theorem would lead to a contradiction. This is discussed at the end of the section 6.
- 3) Each $Q_{|p}^{N,\omega}$ converges beyond the polygon H_p : in fact we have $\|Q_{|p}^{N,\omega} \omega\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p \sqcup \{G_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus H_p} < t\}} = \mathcal{O}_{N\to\infty}\left((e^t\rho)^N\right)$ for any ρ as in the statement and any t. However this does not mean that $Q_{|p}^{N,\omega}$ converges to $\omega_{|p}$ in all of \mathbb{D} .
- 4) Our proof of the theorem does not give an explicit constant C, because one of the bounds (see lemma 13) includes an argument by contradiction. It is unclear whether this could be made explicit easily.
- 5) $0 \in H_1$ may happen to be a Weierstrass point. This happens for instance when X is obtained by gluing the opposite sides of a single regular octogon centered at 0 with angles $\frac{\pi}{4}$ (this is the Bolza surface): in this case the Weierstrass points are exactly the origin, the vertices and the middle of the edges (which after identifications correspond to a total of 6 different points). In particular there is a basis of 1-forms $\alpha, \beta \in \Omega^1(X)$ such that

$$\alpha(z) = 1 + \mathcal{O}_{z \to 0}(z), \ \beta(z) = z^2 + \mathcal{O}_{z \to 0}(z^3).$$

In practice this may be detected by the fact that for some $l = 1, \ldots, g$, the quantity

$$\inf \left\{ E^{N}(P), \ P \in \mathbb{C}_{N}[X]^{m} : \forall j = 1, \dots, g, \ P_{|1}^{(j-1)}(0) = \delta_{j,l} \right\}$$

does not converge to 0. To solve this issue we proceed by perturbation: we choose some random point $w_{rand} \in H_1$ and impose successive derivative conditions at w_{rand} instead of 0. We may also change H_1 into $\varphi(H_1)$ for some small perturbation of the identity $\varphi \in PSU(1,1)$, which amounts to changing $\gamma_{1,i}$ into $\varphi(\gamma_{1,i})$ and composing the transition functions $g_{p,i}$ accordingly.

Overall this least square method allows us to compute a good approximation of the canonical basis of 1-forms (verifying (2.2)). Moreover polynomial expression can be explicitly integrated, so this also give us an approximate period matric τ , Abel-Jacobi map u and Riemann constant \mathcal{K} . The details of these computations are explained in sections 4.1 and 4.2.

In the next subsections we give a construction of the harmonic basis with explicit formula given by compositions of the Abel-Jacobi map u and Θ functions (and its derivatives), the period matrix τ and the Riemann constant \mathcal{K} : in practice these will be computed using our approximations.

3.2 Logarithmic singularities

In this subsection and all the following we work on the surface \mathbb{D}/Γ , instead of the (equivalent) surface X obtained by gluing, for the convenience of notations. How these two points of view reconcile in practice is explained in section 4.

Let v, w be two distinct points and

$$\xi \in (\mathcal{K} + u^{g-1}(\mathbb{D}^{g-1})) \setminus \left[(\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{K} - u(v)) \cup (\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{K} - u(w)) \right],$$

where C is the set defined in subsection 2.4 as the image of the critical points of u^g .

In other words ξ is chosen as

$$\xi = \mathcal{K} + \sum_{j=1}^{g-1} u(w_j)$$

where w_1, \ldots, w_{g-1} are generic: since C has dimension at most g-2, generic points will give a suitable ξ . We let

$$\sigma_{v,w}(z) = \frac{\Theta(u(z) - u(v) - \xi)}{\Theta(u(z) - u(w) - \xi)}.$$
(3.1)

Then $\sigma_{v,w}$ vanishes exactly (modulo Γ) with order 1 at v, and has one pole (modulo Γ) of order 1 at w. Moreover $\sigma_{v,w}$ verifies $\sigma_{v,w}(A_j(z)) = \sigma_{v,w}(z)$ and

$$\sigma_{v,w}(B_j(z)) = \sigma_{v,w}(z)e^{2\pi i(u_j(v) - u_j(w))}.$$

Let $(c_i)_i \in \mathbb{C}^g$ to be fixed later, and

$$\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z) = \sigma_{v,w}(z)e^{2\pi i\sum_{k=1}^{g} c_k\Im(u_k(z))}$$

Then $\hat{\sigma}_{w_1,w_2}$ is A_j -periodic since $\sigma_{v,w}$ is too and $\Im(u_k(A_j z)) = \Im(u_k(z) + \delta_{jk}) = \Im(u_k(z))$. Next,

$$\frac{\widehat{\sigma}_{v,w}(B_j z)}{\widehat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)} = \exp\left(2\pi i \left[u_j(v) - u_j(w) + \sum_{k=1}^g c_k \Im(\tau)_{jk}\right]\right).$$

Since $\Im(\tau)$ is invertible, we may choose the coefficients $(c_j)_j$ such that $\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}$ is Γ -periodic: it is sufficient to check that for every j we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{g} c_k \Im(\tau)_{jk} = u_j(w) - u_j(v),$$

which amounts to choosing

$$\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z) = \sigma_{v,w}(z) \exp\left(-2\pi i \sum_{1 \le k, l \le g} (\Im(\tau)^{-1})_{k,l} \Im(u_k(z))(u_l(v) - u_l(w))\right).$$
(3.2)

The function

$$\log |\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)| = \log |\sigma_{v,w}(z)| + 2\pi \sum_{1 \le k, l \le g} (\Im(\tau)^{-1})_{k,l} \Im(u_k(z)) \Im(u_l(v) - u_l(w))$$
(3.3)

is thus a periodic harmonic function with singularities equal to $\log(|z-v|) + \mathcal{O}_{z \to v}(1)$ near v, and to $-\log(|z-w|) + \mathcal{O}_{v \to w}(1)$ near w.

Note that the function $\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)$ might look like it depends on the choice of the generic point $\xi \in u^{g-1}(\mathbb{D}^{g-1})$. However, changing ξ only changes $\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)$ by a non-zero constant factor.

3.3 Pole of order 1

We use the previously defined functions, where w is where we aim to build a pole of order 1 and v is seen as a variable. Let

$$\wp_1(z, w) = \partial_v |_{v=w} \log |\sigma_{v,w}(z)|,$$

$$\widehat{\wp}_1(z, w) = \partial_v |_{v=w} \log |\widehat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)|,$$

where $\partial_v|_{v=w}$ is the conformal Wirtinger derivative along the variable v, taken at the value v = w. In other words

$$\wp_1(z,w) = \Theta(u(z) - u(w) - \xi)^{-1} \partial_v|_{v=w} \Theta(u(z) - u(w) - \xi)$$
(3.4)

$$= -\frac{u'(w) \cdot \nabla \Theta(u(z) - u(w) - \xi)}{\Theta(u(z) - u(w) - \xi)}$$

$$(3.5)$$

$$\widehat{\wp}_1(z,w) = \wp_1(z,w) - 2\pi i \sum_{1 \le k, l \le g} (\Im(\tau)^{-1})_{k,l} \Im(u_k(z)) u_l'(w).$$
(3.6)

The function $\hat{\wp}_1(z, w)$ is still Γ -periodic along the variable z: by applying the Wirtinger derivative in v at v = w to the periodicity relation

$$\forall \gamma \in \Gamma, \ \log |\widehat{\sigma}_{v,w}(z)| = \log |\widehat{\sigma}_{v,w}(\gamma(z))|$$

we obtain

$$\forall \gamma \in \Gamma, \ \widehat{\wp}_1(z, w) = \widehat{\wp}_1(\gamma(z), w).$$

3.4 Poles of order 2 to g

We define by induction

$$\wp_n(z,w) = \partial_w^{(n-1)} \wp_1(z,w)$$
$$\widehat{\wp}_n, (z,w) = \partial_w^{(n-1)} \widehat{\wp}_1(z,w).$$

More precisely,

$$\widehat{\wp}_n(z,w) = \wp_n(z,w) - 2\pi i \sum_{1 \le k, l \le g} (\Im(\tau)^{-1})_{k,l} \Im(u_k(z)) u_l^{(n)}(w).$$
(3.7)

As before, $\widehat{\wp}_n(\gamma(z), w) = \widehat{\wp}_n(z, w)$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$. While the computation of $u_l^{(n)}(w)$ is straightforward using its polynomial approximation, the function \wp_n will be computed by an analytic finite difference method explained in section 4.

Note that the function $\widehat{\wp}_n(z, w)$ by itself is holomorphic with respect to z but only verifies the periodicity relation

$$\widehat{\wp}_n(A_j(z), w) = \widehat{\wp}_n(z, w), \ \widehat{\wp}_n(B_j(z), w) = \widehat{\wp}_n(z, w) + 2\pi i u_j^{(m)}(w)$$
(3.8)

3.5 Poles of order g + 1 to 2g + 1

The fact that w is not a Weierstrass point appear in this construction. We first define $(\wp_n)_{g+1 \leq n \leq 2g+1}$ and $\widehat{\wp}_n(z, w)$ in the same fashion as earlier, and we let $C(w) \in M_{g \times g}(\mathbb{C})$ to be defined as

$$C(w)_{k,n} = u_k^{(n)}(w), \ 1 \le k \le g, \ 1 \le n \le g$$

such that for any $n \in \{1, \ldots, g\}$:

$$\widehat{\wp}_n(z,w) = \wp_n(z,w) - 2\pi i \sum_{k=1}^g \left(\Im(\tau)^{-1} C(w) \right)_{k,n} \Im(u_k(z)).$$

Since w is not a Weierstrass point, then C(w) is invertible (as a consequence of lemma 5).

For any $n = g + 1, \ldots, 2g + 1$, we then let

$$d_n(w) = C(w)^{-1}u^{(n)}(w) \in \mathbb{C}^g$$

be the unique vector that verifies for any $k = 1, \ldots, g$:

$$u_k^{(n)}(w) = \sum_{p=1}^g d_{n,p}(w)u_k^{(p)}(w).$$

Letting

$$\check{\wp}_n(z,w) = \wp_n(z,w) - \sum_{p=1}^g d_{n,p}(w)\wp_p(z,w),$$

this is a meromorphic function with a pole of order n at z = w, and it is Γ -periodic. Indeed, it is equal by construction to

$$\widehat{\wp}_n(z,w) - \sum_{p=1}^g d_{n,p}(w) \widehat{\wp}_p(z,w)$$

which is periodic.

3.6 Poles of order 2g + 2 and more

We now build a periodic meromorphic function with a pole of order n at w for $n \ge 2g + 2$. For any such n there exists $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $q \in \{g + 1, g + 2, \dots, 2g + 1\}$ such that

$$n = (g+1)m + q.$$

We then define

$$\tilde{\wp}_n(z,w) = \check{\wp}_q(z,w)\check{\wp}_{q+1}(z,w)^m.$$

Note that we *could* follow the previous construction: the functions $\check{\wp}_n$ and $\check{\wp}_n$ differ (up to a nonzero multiplicative constant) by a combination of $\check{\wp}_m$ (or $\check{\wp}_m$) for m < n. The same can be said between $\check{\wp}_n$ and $\hat{\wp}_n$.

3.7 Adaptation to Weierstrass points

Let us now sketch how each of the previous results apply to Weierstrass points. First, as in section 3.1 we compute (using the least square method from theorem 6) an approximation of a basis of $\Omega^1(X)$ and of the Abel-Jacobi map.

For the construction of the basis of harmonic functions with prescribed poles, for a general Weierstrass point the matrix C(w) defined in subsection 3.5 is not invertible in general: we need to compute more of the functions $(\wp_n)_n$ to get a full-rank matrix, as follows:

- 1) We define $\log |\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}|$ as previously.
- 2) We define similarly $\wp_1(z, w)$, $\widehat{\wp}_1(z, w)$.
- 3) By differenciation in w we build the functions $\hat{\wp}_n$ as previously, this time for the values $n = 2, 3, \ldots, 2g 1$.
- 4) We define the non-square matrix $\tilde{C}(w) \in M_{q \times (2q-1)}(\mathbb{C})$ by:

$$\tilde{C}(w)_{k,n} = u_k^{(n)}(w), \ 1 \le k \le g, \ 1 \le n \le 2g - 1.$$

By lemma 5, $\tilde{C}(w)$ has rank g so we find $d_n(w) \in \mathbb{C}^{2g-1}$ (which may be defined uniquely, up to restricting $\tilde{C}(w)$ to the right subspace of \mathbb{C}^{2g-1})t such that

$$\tilde{C}(w)d_n(w) = c^{(n-1)}(w)$$

and we may then define $\check{\wp}_n(z, w)$ as previously, for $n = 2g, 2g + 1, \dots, 4g - 1$.

5) For $n \ge 4g$, we make the same Euclidean division n = 2gm + q where $2g \le q < 4g$, and we let

$$\tilde{\wp}_n(z,w) = \check{\wp}_q(z,w)\check{\wp}_{2g}(z,w)^m.$$

3.8 Proof of the main results

Here we give the proof of the two main results 1 and 2.

While the first result is a simple consequence of our construction and of the maximum principle, the second one is more involved: we have to adapt to general surfaces the classical proof of Bernstein-Walsch theorem in \mathbb{C} (see [14, Ch. VII] or [11, Th 6.3.1] for a more recent reference, to which we will refer for intermediate results).

Proof of 1. Let h be a function as in the statement and let w_j be one of the poles. We may then develop h near this point (here we have fixed the charts that is naturally induced by the gluing of polygons)

$$h(z) = a_{j,0} \log(|z - w_j|) + \sum_{k=1}^n \Re \left[a_{j,k} (z - w_j)^{-k} \right] + \mathcal{O}_{z \to w_j}(1),$$

where $a_{j,0}$ is real and $a_{j,k}$ is complex. We remind that this is obtained by integrating the Laurent series decomposition of $\partial_z h(z)$, which is meromorphic with a pole at w_j . By construction, there exists a constant $c \neq 0$ such that

$$\widehat{\wp}_k(z, w_j) = c(-1)^k (k-1)! (z-w_j)^{-k} + \mathcal{O}_{z \to w_j} \left((z-w_j)^{-(k-1)} \right).$$

So there exists $b_{j,0}, b_{j,1}, b_{j,2}, \ldots, b_{j,n}$ such that the function

$$h(z) - \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} b_{j,0} \log \left| \sigma_{w_j, w_{j+1}}(z) \right| - \Re \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{g} b_{j,n} \widehat{\wp}_k(z, w_j) + \sum_{k=g+1}^{2g+1} b_{j,k} \widecheck{\wp}_k(z, w_j) + \sum_{k=2g+1}^{n} b_{j,k} \widetilde{\wp}_k(z, w_j) \right)$$

is harmonic in $X \setminus \{w_j, j = 1, ..., N\}$ and bounded near each pole, thus it is a constant function, from which we get the theorem.

For the proof of 2, we first prove a more particular case from which the general case is a direct consequence.

Lemma 7. Let X be a compact oriented surface of genus $g \ge 1$, let K be a compact subset of X such that none of its connected component is reduced to a point and $D := X \setminus K$ is connected, and let $w \in D$. Let f be a holomorphic function defined on a neighbourhood of K, and f_n be the best $L^{\infty}(K)$ approximation of f by a meromorphic function of X with only a pole of order at most n at w. Then for any t > 0 the two following properties are equivalent:

- (a) f extends holomorphically to $K \sqcup \{\mathcal{G}_D(\cdot, w_j) < t\}$.
- (b) $\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|f f_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{1/n} \leq e^{-t}.$

We let $\mathcal{H}: X^2 \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{-\infty\}$ be the *other* Green function on X, defined by

$$\Delta_z \mathcal{H}(\cdot, w) = 2\pi \left(\delta_w - \frac{1}{|X|} \right), \ \int_X \mathcal{H}(z, w) d\mu_X(z) = 0.$$

where μ_X is the area measure induced by the hyperbolic metric. We remind that $\mathcal{H}(x, y) = \mathcal{H}(y, x)$ with this normalization.

The idea of proof of $(a \Rightarrow b)$ is as follows.

1) If we extend continuously $\mathcal{G}_D(z, w)$ by 0 in K, then $\Delta_z \mathcal{G}_D(\cdot, w) = 2\pi(\nu_K - \delta_w)$ where ν_K is a capacitary measure of mass 1 that is supported on ∂K , called the equilibrium measure of K. Moreover, ν_K may be defined as the probability measure supported on K that maximizes the quantity

$$I(\nu) = \int_{K^2} \left(\mathcal{H}(x, y) - \mathcal{H}(x, w) - \mathcal{H}(y, w) \right) d\nu(x) d\nu(y),$$

and we write $c(K) = e^{I(\nu_K)}$ the logarithmic capacity of K with respect to the pole w. We remind that for any $z \in D$:

$$\mathcal{G}_D(z,w) = \int_{\partial K} \left(\mathcal{H}(z,\zeta) - \mathcal{H}(z,w) - \mathcal{H}(\zeta,w) - I(\nu_K) \right) d\nu_K(\zeta).$$
(3.9)

2) We let $(z_{1,n}, \ldots, z_{n,n})$ be a maximal argument of

$$(z_1, \dots, z_n) \in K^n \mapsto \frac{2}{n(n-1)} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} \left(\mathcal{H}(z_i, z_j) - \mathcal{H}(z_i, w) - \mathcal{H}(z_j, w) \right)$$
(3.10)

and denote $\log(\delta_n(K))$ its maximal value. Then $\delta_n(K)$ converges to c(K)

3) We define F_n to be a meromorphic function, with a pole of order n at w and zeroes at the $\{z_{j,n}, j = 1, \ldots, n\}$: when X is the Riemann sphere $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ this is always possible by taking the so-called Fekete polynomial $F_n(X) = \prod_{j=1}^n (X - z_{j,n})$, however in a general surface this necessitates a correction: we find some $q \in \mathbb{N}$ (only depending on the geometry of K and X) such that F_n has q additional zeroes in K, and a pole of order n + q at w.

We also prove that $(|F_n|/\|F_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)})^{1/n}$ converges locally in D to $e^{\mathcal{G}_D(\cdot,w)}$.

4) Finally, we define f_n as (through an integral involving F_n) as a meromorphic function with a pole of order $n + \mathcal{O}(1)$ at w that coincides with f at the points $(z_{j,n})_j$.

Proof of 7. We start with $(b \Rightarrow a)$. Denote $g_n = f_n - f_{n-1}$, such that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|g_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{1/n} \le e^{-t}.$$

 $\log |g_n|$ is subharmonic in $X \setminus \{w\}$ and more precisely

$$\Delta \log |g_n| \ge -2\pi n \delta_w,$$

so the function $z \mapsto \mathcal{G}_D(z, w) - \log \frac{|g_n(z)|}{\|g_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}}$ is superharmonic in D and nonnegative on ∂D : as a consequence it is nonnegative in D. This implies that for any $s \in (0, t)$, and any $z \in K \sqcup \{\mathcal{G}_D(\cdot, w) < s\}$:

$$|g_n(z)| \leqslant ||g_n||_{L^\infty(K)} e^{ns}$$

So $\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|g_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K \sqcup \{\mathcal{G}_D(\cdot, w) < s\})}^{\frac{1}{n}} \leq e^{s-t}(<1)$, meaning $\|g_n\|_{K \sqcup \{\mathcal{G}_D(\cdot, w) < s\}}$ is summable for all s < t, and f extends to $K \sqcup \{\mathcal{G}_D(\cdot, w) < t\}$ as $f_0 + \sum_{n \ge 1} g_n$.

We now prove to the other implication $(b \Rightarrow a)$. First note that since $\mathcal{G}_D(\cdot, w)$ is continuous at ∂D , without loss of generality we may replace K with $K^{\epsilon} = K \sqcup \{\mathcal{G}_D \leq \epsilon\}$ and D with $D^{\epsilon} = X \setminus K^{\epsilon}$ for arbitrarily small $\epsilon \to 0$. This way $\mathcal{G}_{D^{\epsilon}} = \mathcal{G}_D - \epsilon$ on D^{ϵ} . This is useful in the third step because K^{ϵ} now contains an open set. Thus in the rest of the proof we suppose ∂K is a finite union of smooth curves.

We follow the four steps evoked earlier: since the first two follow the same steps as the planar case, only the third and fourth are given in full detail.

- 1) The first part is direct (note that since ∂K is smooth, there is no regularity issue at the boundary). The second part is a consequence of Frostman's theorem (see for instance [11, Th. 3.3.4] with no significant change from the proof of the planar case).
- 2) This is the Fekete-Szego theorem adapted to surface (see for instance [11, Th. 5.5.2] where the same proof adapts).
- 3) We denote by $\overline{u} : X \to \mathbb{C}^g/(\mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g)$ the quotiented Abel-Jacobi map. The condition at which there exists a meromorphic function with exactly a pole of order n at w and zeroes at the points $(z_{j,n})_{j=1,\dots,n}$ is given by Abel's theorem as follows:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} (\overline{u}(z_{j,n}) - \overline{u}(w)) = 0.$$

This is not always verified, but we claim that for a large enough $q \in \mathbb{N}$ we may always find some $z_{n+1,n}, z_{n+2,n}, \ldots, z_{n+q,n} \in K$ such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n+q} (\overline{u}(z_{j,n}) - \overline{u}(w)) = 0.$$

Indeed, write $\overline{u}^k(z_1, \ldots, z_k) = \sum_{j=1}^k \overline{u}(z_j)$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$. We remind that \overline{u}^g is a diffeomorphism outside of a codimension 1 set, and K has non-empty interior (since we supposed K to be smooth in the beginning) so $\overline{u}^g(K^g)$ contains an open set of $\mathbb{C}^g/(\mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g)$. As a consequence, for some large enough $m \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$\overline{u}^{mg}(K^{mg}) = \underbrace{\overline{u}^g(K) + \ldots + \overline{u}^g(K)}_{m \text{ times}} = \mathbb{C}^g / (\mathbb{Z}^g + \tau \mathbb{Z}^g).$$

Let q = mg and we choose $z_{n+1,n}, \ldots, z_{n+q,n} \in K$ such that

$$\sum_{j=n+1}^{n+q} \overline{u}(z_{j,n}) = q\overline{u}(w) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\overline{u}(z_{j,n}) - \overline{u}(w)).$$

This proves our claim: there exists a meromorphic function F_n with divisor $\sum_{j=1}^{n+q} ([z_{j,n}] - [w])$. Up to multiplying F_n by a scalar constant, we have

$$\log|F_n(z)| = \sum_{j=1}^{n+q} \mathcal{H}(z, z_{j,n}) - \mathcal{H}(z, w) - \mathcal{H}(z_{j,n}, w)$$
(3.11)

We now prove the convergence of $|F_n|^{1/n}$ on D. It is more convenient (and equivalent) to prove the convergence of $|F_n|^{\frac{1}{n+q}}$. Since all zeroes of F_n are in K, then $\frac{1}{n+q} \log \frac{|F_n|}{\|F_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}}$ is harmonic in $D \setminus \{w\}$ with a logarithmic singularity at w, and more precisely the function

$$z \mapsto h_n(z) = \mathcal{G}_D(z, w) - \frac{1}{n+q} \log \frac{|F_n(z)|}{\|F_n\|_{L^\infty(K)}}$$

is harmonic with an erasable singularity in w. Moreover, it is nonnegative at the boundary, as a consequence for any $z \in D$ we get

$$0 \leqslant h_n(z) \leqslant \tau_D(z, w) h_n(w),$$

where $\tau_D(z, w)$ is the Harnack constant associated to $(z, w) \in D^2$. The value of h_n at w is $\log \frac{\|F_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{\frac{1}{n+q}}}{c(K)}$ (this is a consequence of equation (3.11) and (3.9) where we remind $I(\nu_k) = \log(c(K))$). As a consequence, the above inequality gives for any $z \in D$:

$$e^{\mathcal{G}_{D}(z,w)} \left(\frac{c(K)}{\|F_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{\frac{1}{n+q}}}\right)^{\tau_{D}(z,w)} \leqslant \left(\frac{|F_{n}(z)|}{\|F_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n+q}} \leqslant e^{\mathcal{G}_{D}(z,w)}.$$
(3.12)

Finally, following [11, Th. 5.5.4], for any $z \in K$ we consider $(z, z_{1,n}, \ldots, z_{n,n})$ as a competitor of $(z_{1,n+1}, \ldots, z_{n+1,n+1})$ in (3.10) and this gives exactly

$$\delta_n(K)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} |F_n(z)| \leq c^q \delta_{n+1}(K)^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}.$$

where $c = \sup_{(z,\zeta)\in K^2} e^{\mathcal{H}(z,\zeta)-\mathcal{H}(z,w)-\mathcal{H}(\zeta,w)}$. Since $\delta_n(K)$ is decreasing we get $\|F_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{\frac{1}{n+q}} \leq c^{\frac{q}{n+q}} \delta_n(K)^{\frac{n}{n+q}} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} c(K)$. From this and equation (3.12) we obtain

$$\left(\frac{|F_n(z)|}{\|F_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n+q}} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} e^{\mathcal{G}_D(z,w)} \text{ locally uniformly in } z \in D.$$
(3.13)

4) For the end of the proof, we need the following construction:

Lemma 8. Let $w \in X$ be fixed, then for any $z \in X \setminus \{w\}$ there exists a meromorphic 1-form ω_z with exactly a pole of order 1 at z and w, with residues 1, -1 respectively, such that $z \mapsto \omega_z$ is itself meromorphic with respect to z, with a pole at z = w of order at most 2g - 1.

Proof. We start by the genus 1 case. We may suppose X is of the form \mathbb{C}/L for some lattice $L = \mathbb{Z} + \tau \mathbb{Z}$ where $\Im(\tau) > 0$. We then consider the zeta function

$$\mathcal{Z}(z) = \frac{1}{z} + \sum_{\ell \in L \setminus \{0\}} \left\{ \frac{1}{z-\ell} + \frac{1}{\ell} + \frac{z}{\ell^2} \right\}.$$

We remind the periodicity of \mathcal{Z} , due to Eisenstein:

$$z \mapsto \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}(z) := \mathcal{Z}(z) - \gamma_2 z - \frac{\pi}{\Im(\tau)} \overline{z}$$
 is *L*-periodic,

where $\gamma_2 = \sum_{\ell \in L \setminus \{0\}} \frac{1}{\ell^4}$. Then we let

$$\omega_z(\zeta) = \left(\mathcal{Z}(\zeta - z) + \mathcal{Z}(z - w) - \mathcal{Z}(\zeta - w)\right) d\zeta$$

 ω_z is meromorphic with respect to ζ , z with the appropriate poles. Moreover, since $\mathcal{Z}(\zeta - z) + \mathcal{Z}(z-w) - \mathcal{Z}(\zeta - w) = \hat{\mathcal{Z}}(\zeta - z) + \hat{\mathcal{Z}}(z-w) - \hat{\mathcal{Z}}(\zeta - w)$ then it is also periodic with respect to ζ , z.

We now suppose $g \ge 2$. To build this 1-form we work from the disk model \mathbb{D}/Γ . As in section 3.2, we let ξ be a generic point of $\mathcal{K} + u^{g-1}(\mathbb{D}^{g-1})$, and

$$\sigma_{z,w}(\zeta) = \frac{\Theta(u(\zeta) - u(z) - \xi)}{\Theta(u(\zeta) - u(w) - \xi)}$$

We let

$$\alpha_z(\zeta) = \partial_{\zeta} \log |\sigma_{z,w}(\zeta)| = \frac{\sigma'_{z,w}(\zeta)}{\sigma_{z,w}(\zeta)}$$

Then $\alpha_z \in \Omega^1(\mathbb{D}/\Gamma)$ for every z, with the poles exactly as in the statement of the lemma (and since it is expressed as a ratio, it does not depend on ξ). Moreover it is holomorphic with respect to z (in particular $\alpha_w = 1$). However it is not periodic with respect to z, indeed a direct computation gives

$$\alpha_{A_j(z)}(\zeta) = \alpha_z(\zeta), \ \alpha_{B_j(z)}(\zeta) = \alpha_z(\zeta) + 2\pi i \omega_j(\zeta).$$

Thus it is enough to define

$$\omega_z(\zeta) = \alpha_z(\zeta) - \sum_{k=1}^g c_k(z)\omega_k(\zeta),$$

where $c_j \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D})$ has poles at $\Gamma \cdot w$ and verifies the periodicity relations

$$\forall j,k \in \{1,\ldots,g\}, \ c_k(A_j(z)) = c_k(z), \ c_k(B_j(z)) = c_k(z) + 2\pi i \delta_{j,k}.$$

We built c_k as a combination of $(\wp_m)_{m=1,2,\ldots,2g-1}$ (which could be replaced by $m = 1, 2, \ldots, g$ when w is not a Weierstrass point) built in subsection (3.3,3.4). We remind the periodicity of \wp_m :

$$\wp_m(A_j(z), w) = \wp_m(z, w), \ \wp_m(B_j(z), w) = \wp_m(z, w) + 2\pi i \omega_j^{(m-1)}(w).$$
(3.14)

Letting (as in subsection 3.7) $\tilde{C}(w) = (\omega_j^{(m-1)}(w))_{1 \leq j \leq g, \ 1 \leq m \leq 2g-1}$, then $\tilde{C}(w)$ has rank g according to lemma 5 so for each k there exists some $b^k = (b_m^k)_{0 \leq m \leq 2g-2} \in \mathbb{C}^{2g-1}$ such that $\tilde{C}(w)b^k = e_k$. We then define

$$c_k(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{2g-2} b_m^k \wp_m(z)$$

This way $\omega_z(w)$ is periodic with respect to z.

Let $K_t = K \sqcup \{\mathcal{G}_D > t\}$. Up to a small perturbation of t we may suppose that ∂K_t is smooth and does not contain zeroes of f. Let then

$$f_n(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial K_t} \frac{F_n(\zeta) - F_n(z)}{F_n(\zeta)} f(\zeta) \omega_z(d\zeta), \ \forall z \in K_t.$$

 f_n is meromorphic with a pole of order at most n + q + 2g - 1 at w. Indeed by residue theorem

$$f_n(z) = -\sum_{j=1}^n f(z_{j,n}) F_n(z) \operatorname{res}\left(\zeta \mapsto \frac{\omega_z(d\zeta)}{F_n(\zeta)}, z_{j,n}\right),$$

and F_n has order n + q at w, ω_z has order at most 2g - 1.

Then by residue theorem $f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial K_t} f(\zeta) \omega_z(d\zeta)$ for any $z \in K_t$, so

$$f(z) - f_n(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial K_t} \frac{F_n(z)}{F_n(\zeta)} f(\zeta) \omega_z(d\zeta).$$

For some constant C > 0, and $z \in K$:

$$|f(z) - f_n(z)|^{\frac{1}{n+q}} \leq \left(C\frac{\|F_n\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}}{\inf_{\partial K_t} |F_n|}\right)^{\frac{1}{n+q}} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} e^{-t}.$$

where we used the convergence result (3.13).

Proof of 2. Let h be a harmonic function as in the statement of the theorem, defined in some neighbourhood of K denoted $K_t = K \sqcup_{j=1}^N \{ \mathcal{G}_{D_j}(\cdot, w_j) < t \}$. Up to a small perturbation of t we suppose ∂K_t is smooth. Write $G(w) = \{n \in \mathbb{N}^* : \ell(n[p]) = \ell((n-1)[p])\}$ the set of gaps at $w: G(w) = \{1, \ldots, g\}$ when w is not a Weierstrass point, and in general it is a subset of $\{1, \ldots, 2g - 1\}$ of cardinal g such that the matrix

$$M(w) = (\omega_j^{(m-1)}(w))_{(j,m) \in \{1,\dots,g\} \times G(w)}$$

is invertible.

We claim we may split h as follows:

$$h(z) = h^{res}(z) + h^{per}(z) + h^{red}(z),$$

where

- The residue part h^{res} is a combination of the functions $\log |\hat{\sigma}_{w_l,w_{l+1}}(z)|$ for $l = 1, \ldots, N-1$.
- The period part h^{per} is a combination of $(\Re \widehat{\wp}_m(z, w_1), \Im \widehat{\wp}_m(z, w_1))_{m \in G(w_1)})$.
- The *reduced* part h^{red} is the real part of some element $f \in \mathcal{O}(K_t)$, which is uniquely defined up to fixing $f = h^{red}$ at some reference point in K.

Moreover h^{res} and h^{per} (which belong to a finite dimensional space) depend smoothly on h. We prove this claim in three steps:

1) Write $D_{j,t} = D_j \setminus K_t$ and $r_l(h) = \sum_{j=1}^l \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D_{j,t}} \partial_z h$, such that denoting

$$h^{res} = \sum_{l=1}^{N-1} r_l(h) \log \left| \hat{\sigma}_{w_l, w_{l+1}}(z) \right|$$

then for any $j = 1, \ldots, N$ we have

$$\int_{\partial D_{j,t}} \partial_z (h - h^{res}) = 0.$$

2) The periods of $\partial_z (h - h^{res})$ are now well-defined: indeed for any smooth open set $A \subset X$ such that $\partial A \subset K_t$, we have

$$\int_{\partial A} \partial_z (h - h^{res}) = \sum_{l=1: D_{j,t} \subset A}^N \int_{\partial D_{j,t}} \partial_z (h - h^{res}) = 0.$$

We show that coefficients $(c_m(h), d_m(h))_{m \in G(w_1)}$ may be chosen such that, denoting

$$h^{per}(z) = \Re \sum_{m \in G(w_1)} c_m(h) \Re \widehat{\wp}_m(z, w_1) + d_m(h) \Im \widehat{\wp}_m(z, w_1),$$

then $\int_{\mathcal{C}} \partial_z (h - h^{res} - h^{per}) = 0$ for any closed loop \mathcal{C} in K_t . To prove this, it is sufficient to prove that any set of periods may be reached with these forms, meaning:

$$\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\left\{\begin{pmatrix}\left(\int_{a_{j}}\partial_{z}\Re\widehat{\wp}_{m}(z,w_{1})\right)_{j}\\\left(\int_{b_{j}}\partial_{z}\Re\widehat{\wp}_{m}(z,w_{1})\right)_{j}\end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix}\left(\int_{a_{j}}\partial_{z}\Im\widehat{\wp}_{m}(z,w_{1})\right)_{j}\\\left(\int_{b_{j}}\partial_{z}\Im\widehat{\wp}_{m}(z,w_{1})\right)_{j}\end{pmatrix}, m = 1, \dots, 2g - 1\right\} = \mathbb{C}^{2g}$$

Suppose it is not the case, meaning there exists some combination

$$\omega(z) = \sum_{m \in P(w_1)} c_m \partial_z \widehat{\wp}_m(z, w_1) + d_m \partial_z \overline{\widehat{\wp}_m(z, w_1)}$$

such that $\int_{a_j} \omega = \int_{b_j} \omega = 0$ for all j: since ω is meromorphic this means there is a meromorphic function f defined on X, with at most a pole at w_1 , such that $\partial_z f = \omega$.

Since $\partial_z \overline{\wp_m(z, w_1)}$ is in $\Omega^1(X)$ for every m, we directly see that all coefficients c_m must vanish: if $c_m \neq 0$ where m is supposed to be the largest possible index, then f has a pole of order exactly m at w_1 , which is impossible since $m \in G(p)$. Then, by the expression of $\widehat{\wp}_m$ (see equation (3.7)) we have

$$\partial_z \overline{\widehat{\wp}_m(z,w_1)} = \pi \sum_{j=1}^g (\Im(\tau)^{-1} \overline{M_{\cdot,m}(w_1)})_j \omega_j(z).$$

and since $M(w_1)$ has full rank, it is not possible that all periods of $\sum_{m \in G(w_1)} d_m \partial_z \overline{\hat{\wp}_m(z, w_1)}$ vanish, unless all coefficients d_m vanish. This concludes the claim of the existence of $c_m(h)$, $d_m(h)$.

3) $h - h^{res} - h^{per}$ verifies $\int_{\mathcal{C}} \partial_z (h - h^{res} - h^{per}) = 0$ for any closed loop \mathcal{C} , so we may find an antiderivative $f \in \mathcal{O}(K_t)$, which is uniquely defined up to fixing its value at some reference points of K_t .

We now prove the two implications.

 $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Suppose $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \|h_n - h\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{1/n} \leq e^{-t}$. Write f, f_n the holomorphic functions such that $\partial_z f = \partial_z h^{red}, \ \partial_z f_n = \partial_z h_n^{red}$ (we may suppose that $f = f_n = 0$ at some fixed reference point of K). Then since h^{res} , h^{per} depend smoothly on h, we get also

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|f_n - f\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}^{1/n}$$

The first implication of lemma 7 applies.

 $(b \Rightarrow a)$ We start by decomposing h as above. Then our goal is to decompose f as

$$f = f_1 + \ldots + f_N + r,$$

where each f_j is in $\mathcal{O}(X \setminus (D_j \setminus K_t))$ (and $r \in \mathcal{H}_{2g-1}(\{w_1, \ldots, w_N\}))$, so that we may apply lemma 7 to each f_j .

Let ω_z be the parametrization of 1-forms built from lemma 8 with the basis point w_1 . By residue theorem:

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial K_t} f(\zeta) \omega_z(d\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^N \underbrace{\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{D_j \cap \partial K_t} f(\zeta) \omega_z(d\zeta)}_{\tilde{f}_j}.$$

Then $\tilde{f}_1 \in \mathcal{O}(X \setminus (D_1 \setminus K_t))$ and each \tilde{f}_j for $j \ge 2$ is meromorphic in $X \setminus (D_j \setminus K_t)$ with a single pole of order at most 2g - 1 at w_1 . By the main theorem 1, there exists a harmonic function f_j^{corr} with a single pole (of order at most 2g - 1) in w_1 such that $\tilde{f}_j - f_j^{corr}$ has an erasable singularity at w_1 . We then decompose

$$f = \underbrace{\tilde{f}_1 + \sum_{j=2}^N f_j^{corr}}_{g_1} + \sum_{j=2}^N \underbrace{\tilde{f}_j - f_j^{corr}}_{g_j}.$$

Here each function g_j is harmonic in $X \setminus (D_j \setminus K_t)$: by the same reduction as earlier, it may be decomposed as $f_j + h_j$ where $h_j \in \mathcal{H}_{2g-1}(\{w_j\})$ and $f_j \in \mathcal{O}(X \setminus (D_j \setminus K_t))$. We may then conclude by applying the lemma 7 to each f_j .

4 Computational approach

We describe in this section the several steps required to compute a numerical approximation of the harmonic basis introduced in section 3. Following [5], we illustrate our method on three distinct surfaces of genus 2 described by their Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates (see also section 1.1):

• The surface with symmetry group $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ for which

 $(l_1, t_1; l_2, t_2; l_3, t_3) = (2 \operatorname{arccosh}(2), 0; 2 \operatorname{arccosh}(2), 0; 2 \operatorname{arccosh}(2), 0)$

which coordinates correspond to four regular orthogonal hexagons with no twists.

• The Bolza surface which can either be parametrized by Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates with one single nonzero twist

$$(l_1, t_1; l_2, t_2; l_3, t_3) = (2 \operatorname{arccosh}(3 + 2\sqrt{2}), \frac{1}{2}; 2 \operatorname{arccosh}(1 + \sqrt{2}), 0; 2 \operatorname{arccosh}(1 + \sqrt{2}), 0)$$

or equivalently by the uniform representation

$$(l_1, t_1; l_2, t_2; l_3, t_3) = (l, t; l, t; l, t)$$

where $l = \operatorname{arccosh}(1 + \sqrt{2})$ and $t = \frac{1}{l}\operatorname{arccosh}\left(\frac{2\sqrt{3+\sqrt{2}}}{7}\right)$.

• The Gutzwiller octagon of coordinates

$$(l_1, t_1; l_2, t_2; l_3, t_3) = (2 \operatorname{arccosh}\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{\sqrt{2}}\right), \frac{1}{2}; 4 \operatorname{arccosh}\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{\sqrt{2}}\right), \frac{1}{4}; 2 \operatorname{arccosh}\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{\sqrt{2}}\right), \frac{1}{2}).$$

Every triple of alternate edge lengths (l_1, l_2, l_3) determines a unique orthogonal hexagon in Poincare's disk up to automorphisms of the disk. The practical construction of these hexagons for three alternate lengths is described in [8] chapter 3. We plot the tilings of the hyperbolic disk obtained by the four orthogonal hexagons of every surface in figure 2.



Figure 2: $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$, Bolza and Gutzwiller hexagonal tilings (left to right).

4.1 Approximation of 1-forms

Our construction of a basis of harmonic functions strongly relies on the approximation of a basis of one 1-forms. We already described in the introduction the least square approximation procedure that we implemented to obtain a polynomial approximation of this basis. We prove in section 6 the spectral convergence in infinity norm of the approximation with respect to the degree of the polynomials.

Assuming that the basis point is not a Weierstrass point (see remark 4 below theorem 6 for a discussion of the detection and correction when the center is a Weierstrass point), we compute for some large N the optimal polynomials $Q_l^N = (Q_{l|p}^N)_{p=1,\dots,m} \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m$ defined as

argmin
$$\left\{ E^N(P), \ P \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m : \forall j = 1, \dots, g, \ P_{|1}^{(j-1)}(0) = \delta_{j,l} \right\}$$
.

These act as an approximate basis of the 1-forms $\Omega^1(X)$. To illustrate this convergence, we list in table 1 the a posteriori errors obtained with several degrees N of approximation. The number of

sampling points S(N) to enforce the periodicity conditions on every circular edge is fixed to be 3N. To avoid roundoff errors, we implemented the method using arbitrary precision with a number of 256 bits which correspond to a maximal floating point precision of 154 digits. The computation in the required precision of the polynomial approximations required from several seconds to a few minutes (for N = 10 to N = 200). Observe that these computations have to be considered as pretreatement: to evaluate our full basis of harmonic functions we only need to perform these computations once. The error values given in table 1 correspond to the maximal error on periodicity conditions

$$P_{|p}(z) = g'_{p,i}(z)P_{|q}(g_{p,i}(z))$$

numerically evaluated on 6N random sampling points z on every circular edge. As expected, we recover a spectral precision with respect to N for all three test cases.

	N = 10	N = 20	N = 50	N = 100	N = 160	N = 200
$D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$	6.93e-04	1.58e-06	6.89e-16	1.20e-31	2.01e-48	6.29e-59
Bolza surface	6.15e-03	1.52e-05	9.24e-14	6.06e-27	3.00e-43	1.79e-52
Gutzwiller octagon	1.95e-02	2.61e-05	1.04e-13	7.76e-27	7.51e-42	1.15e-51

Table 1: Spectral convergence of numerical a posteriori periodicity errors

4.2 Approximation of the period matrix and the Abel-Jacobi map

The period matrix of a surface is a fundamental data required in our construction to build meromorphic functions of prescribed orders. We explained in previous section how to compute an approximation of a basis of holomorphic 1-forms. The computation of a period matrix reduces to the evaluation of path integrals of these forms along the canonical basis $(a_j, b_j)_{j=1,...,g}$ introduced in 2.2. Starting from the polynomials $Q_l^N = (Q_{l|p}^N)_{p=1,...,m} \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m$ defined previously, we first let

$$A^N = \left(\left(\int_{a_k} Q_l^N \right)_{1 \le k, l \le g} \right)$$

where the integral of a element $Q = (Q_{|1}, \ldots, Q_{|m}) \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m$ along a smooth (say analytic by part) loop $c : [0, 1] \to X$ is defined as follows: [0, 1] may be partitioned with intervals

$$0 = t_0 < t_1 < t_2 < \ldots < t_r = 1,$$

such that for any $i \in \{0, \ldots, r-1\}$, $t \in [t_i, t_{i+1}] \mapsto c(t)$ lies in a fixed polygon H_{p_i} , and $c(t_i)$ is in the boundary of H_{p_i} for 0 < i < r. We then let

$$\int_{c} Q = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} Q_{|p_i|}(c(t))c'(t)dt.$$

While this definition may seem standard, we remind that in this case the functions $(Q_{|p})_{p=1,\dots,m}$ do not verify exactly the periodicity condition.

The matrix A^N is invertible at least for a large enough N and we make the change of variable

$$\tilde{Q}_k^N = \sum_{k=1}^g ((A^N)^{-1})_{l,k} Q_l^N$$

such that $\int_{a_k} \tilde{Q}_l = \delta_{k,l}$. This way \tilde{Q}_l^N is an approximation of the *l*-th canonical 1-form ω_l verifying condition (2.2). We then let

$$\tau^N = \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} \int_{b_k} \tilde{Q}_l^N + \frac{1}{2} \int_{b_l} \tilde{Q}_k^N \right)_{1 \le k, l \le g} \right)$$

the approximate period matrix. Note that we force its symmetry by construction: we could define $\tau_{k,l}^N = \int_{b_k} \tilde{Q}_l^N$, and since \tilde{Q}_l^N is close to ω^l , τ^N would be close to being symmetric. In our simulations, we used the very efficient *Arb* C library [9, 3] which has been now incorporated in the *Flint* library. The functions available in the library may provide results at a precision depending on the precision of the input. In particular, the call of the multidimensional theta function requires the input period matrix to be symmetric, which motivates this forced symmetry.

We evaluate the numerical precision of our approximations of period matrices on the well known case of Bolza surface. O. Bolza computed analytically the associated period matrix in [1]:

$$\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-1+i\sqrt{2}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{-1+i\sqrt{2}}{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Moreover, the Siegel reduction of τ is given by

$$\tau_{Siegel} = (A\tau + B)(C\tau + D)^{-1},$$

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Using previous formula we obtain

$$\tau_{Siegel} = \frac{1}{3} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 1\\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} + i \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3} & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}\\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3} & \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We reproduce below in table 2 the infinity norm error between τ_{Siegel} and the approximations τ_{Siegel}^N . As expected, we recover the same order of convergence as the one associated to the periodicity errors of previous section. We observed the same qualitative behavior when approximating the period matrices of the $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ surface and Gutzwiller octagon.

	N = 10	N = 20	N = 50	N = 100	N = 160	N = 200
$ \tau_{Siegel} - \tau_{Siegel}^{N} _{\infty}$	8.95e-05	5.69e-08	4.51e-17	6.33e-30	8.30e-46	1.53e-55
T 11 2 C	,	0.1			. 1	

Table 2: Spectral convergence of the approximation of Bolza period matrix.

Finally, the approximation of the Abel-Jacobi map $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_g)$ is defined from taking a primitive of \tilde{Q}^N on each polygon and adjusting it with a constant: we fix a path $c : [0,1] \to X$ that meet every polygon exactly once and define on each polygon H_p the vector-valued polynomial $U_{|p}^N = (U_{1|p}^N, \ldots, U_{g|p}^N) \in \mathbb{C}_{N+1}[X]^g$ such that for every $l = 1, \ldots, g$

$$(U_{l|p}^N)' = \tilde{Q}_{l|p}^N$$
 and $t \mapsto U_l^N(c(t))$ is continuous.

While this choice of path may seem arbitrary, we remind that any different choice would only differ by an element of $\mathbb{Z}^{g} + \tau \mathbb{Z}^{g}$ on each polygon, which will be transparent after a composition of Θ .

Finally, we compute the approximate Riemann constant

$$\mathcal{K}_{j}^{N} = \frac{1}{2}\tau_{jj}^{N} - \sum_{k=1}^{g} \int_{a_{k}} U_{j}^{N}(z)(U_{k}^{N})'(z)dz,$$

where the last term may be computed exactly since $U_i^N(z)(U_k^N)'(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{2N+1}[X]^m$.

4.3 Approximation of meromorphic function of logarithmic order and of order 1

We described in sections 3.2 and 3.3, that the evaluation of functions $\log |\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}|$ and $\hat{\wp}_1(z,w)$ requires the knowledge of the period matrix τ of the surface (to evaluate the Θ function) and a basis of 1-forms. We already discussed the accurate approximation of these data in the two previous sections.

Several libraries provide implementations of the vectorial Riemann theta function for a given τ matrix in the Siegel upper half-space \mathbb{H}_g (the space of symmetric complex matrices with positive definite imaginary part).

All Θ function evaluations of this section were performed with a precision of 512 using formula 3.3 and 3.4. We a posteriori evaluated the numerical precision computing the periodicity errors of our approximations of the log $|\hat{\sigma}|$ and $\hat{\wp}_1$ function. Using the same criteria as in section 4.1, we observed periodicity errors of the same order with respect to N as the one given in table 1. We plot in figures 3, 4 and 5 the graphs of the log $|\hat{\sigma}|$ function for every three surfaces. The left four graphs represent the restriction of the function to the Fenchel hexagons (with colored edges periodicity). The right plots represent the full graph of the associated function on Poincare disk.

As an example, we also provide plots of the real and imaginary part of $\hat{\wp}_1$ of the Bolza surface in the appendix (see figures 8 and 9).



Figure 3: Logarithmic poles on $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$'s surface.



Figure 4: Logarithmic poles on Bolza's surface.



Figure 5: Logarithmic poles on Gutzwiller's surface.

4.4 Approximation of meromorphic function of higher order by complex differentiation

The definitions of harmonic functions of order 2 to 2g + 1 introduced in sections 3.6 and 3.5 involve a new difficulty from a computational point of view: The derivatives of a rational function of Θ (composed with anti-derivatives of pre-computed 1-forms) have to be evaluated. For this task, we implemented a finite difference procedure well adapted to analytic functions. In this context, finite differences avoid round off errors coming from high order algebraic derivatives minimizing the number of function evaluations. We recall a simple process to approximate the derivative of order $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ of a function f of a single complex variable z. The generalization of the method to complex vectorial variable is straightforward.

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\zeta = e^{\frac{2i\pi}{m}}$. Assume $f(z+h) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} a_k h^k$ for a small complex perturbation $h \in \mathbb{C}$. For any fixed $1 \leq p < m$, we have using algebraic simplifications

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \zeta^{-pn} f(z+h_n) = m \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}, \, k = p \pmod{m}} a_k \varepsilon^k$$

where $h_n = \varepsilon \zeta^n$. Thus, previous equality gives an approximation of a_p with an error term of order ε^m . Consequently, m evaluations of the function f lead to an approximation of all its derivatives (deduced from the a_k) up to order m - 1. In order to avoid round off errors in the finite difference process, we systematically call the *Flint* library (to evaluate Riemann Θ function) with a (doubled) accuracy of 512 bits.

Finally, meromorphic functions of order greater than 2g + 2 can be easily obtained as powers and product of previous functions as detailed in section 3.6. Similarly to the approximation of the $\log |\hat{\sigma}_{v,w}|$ and $\hat{\wp}_1(z,w)$ function of previous section, we observe no loss of accuracy with respect to the periodicity. We obtained once again the same order of convergence as the one obtained in the approximation of 1-forms. As an illustration, we plot in the appendix the real and imaginary part of a meromorphic function of the surface with symmetry group $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ of order 3 (see figures 10 and 11) and of order 6 (see figures 12 and 13).

5 Numerical harmonic extension in genus 2

In the same spirit as the numerical experiments of [12, 10] we illustrate in this section the use of our basis of harmonic functions to approximate harmonic extension by the method of particular



Figure 6: Spectral convergence with respect to the number of degrees of freedom: plot of the logarithm of the error in the boundary condition of (5.1) with respect to the number of degrees of freedom.

solutions. Namely, we consider the Gutzwiller surface X to solve for a given g the Laplace equation

$$u: S \to \mathbb{R} \text{ such that } \begin{cases} \Delta u = 0 & \text{ in } X \setminus (B_1 \cup B_2) \\ u = g & \text{ on } \partial B_1 \cup \partial B_2 \end{cases},$$
(5.1)

where B_1 and B_2 are two closed geodesic balls.

Theorem 1 is the key ingredient of the method of particular solution to solve (5.1) for a surface of genus greater than 1. For a finite set of harmonic functions, the idea is to identify the linear combination which minimizes the boundary error in the least square sense. To simplify the notations, we denote by $(\phi_i)_{1 \leq u \leq M}$ a finite set of harmonic functions in $X \setminus (B_1 \cup B_2)$ provided by theorem 1 which is dense in the space of harmonic functions when M tends to infinity. We thus look for the unknown coefficients $(v_i)_{1 \leq u \leq M}$ such that the function

$$u(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{M} v_i \phi_i(z)$$
(5.2)

is close to satisfy the boundary condition imposed by g.

To identify the optimal coefficients, we sample uniformly the boundary $\partial B_1 \cup \partial B_2$ with respect to arclength and denote the collection of all sampled points by $(p_\ell)_{\ell \in S}$. We define the matrix $B \in \mathbb{R}^{S \times M}$ to be

$$B_{\ell,i} = \phi_i(p_l).$$

The least-squares solution is found by solving the normal equations

$$B^t B v = B^t b \tag{5.3}$$

where the vector $b = (g(p_{\ell}))_{\ell \in S}$ is the evaluation of the boundary condition at the sampling points.

We implemented the numerical method in Julia using arbitrary precision provided by the packages GenericLinearAlgebra.jl and ArbNumerics.jl (a wrapper of the Arb C library we already introduced). All computational experiments were performed with a precision of 512 bits which corresponds to a machine epsilon approximately equal to 10^{-154} .

In our example, we choose the two disks B_1 and B_2 to be centered circular holes of radii r = 0.1of the first and third hexagons representing Gutzwiller surface. We systematically fixed the number of sampling points per circular edge to be equal to 3M. We define the boundary condition as $g(\theta) = \sin(3\theta)$ and $g(\theta) = \sin(7\theta)$ respectively on ∂B_1 and ∂B_2 , where θ are the polar angles with respect to the centers of the holes. By the maximum principle, the accuracy of the solution can be computed by looking at the error on the boundary that is $\sup_{x \in \partial B_1 \cup \partial B_2} |u(x) - f(x)|$.

We plot in figure 6 the graph of the logarithm of the boundary error a posteriori evaluated on 3S random points with respect to the number M of basis elements. As expected we recover a spectral convergence as the results obtained on similar test cases in [12, 10]. Finally, we plot in figure 7 the full graph of the harmonic extension of g on Poincare disk. To visualize the small variations of the function u, we apply a threshold to u and plot the function $\max(\min(u, t), -t)$ where t = 0.1.



Figure 7: Harmonic extension on Gutzwiller surface by the method of particular solution.

6 Convergence of the least square approximation

In this section we prove the theorem 6. We fix X as in the statement of the result (in particular $0 \in H_1$ is not a Weierstrass point), and we divide the proof in several intermediate results. We will use the following abuse of notation: the edge $\gamma_{p,i}$ is seen as a parametrizing function

$$\gamma_{p,i}:[0,1]\to\mathbb{D}$$

with constant speed (equal to the length of $\gamma_{p,i}$ denoted $L(\gamma_{p,i})$). This way the sampling set is simply

$$S_{p,i} = \{\gamma_{p,i}(k/aN), \ k = 0, 1, 2, \dots, aN\}.$$

We start by introducing the notation

$$\gamma_{p,i}^a = \gamma_{p,i}([1/a, 1 - 1/a]).$$

For any $K \subset \mathbb{C}$, we write $\mathcal{N}^{\epsilon}(K) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{dist}(z, K) \leq \epsilon\}$. We introduce the auxiliary functional:

$$F(P) = \sum_{(p,i)\to(q,j)} \|P_{|p} - g'_{p,i}P_{|q} \circ g_{p,i}\|^2_{L^{\infty}(\gamma^a_{p,i})}$$

and

$$G(P) = \sum_{(p,i)\to(q,j)} \|P_{|p} - g'_{p,i}P_{|q} \circ g_{p,i}\|^2_{L^{\infty}\left(\mathcal{N}^{\frac{2L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(\gamma^a_{p,i})\right)}$$

Note that $\mathcal{N}^{\frac{2L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(\gamma_{p,i}^{a})$ contains $\mathcal{N}^{\frac{L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(\gamma_{p,i}([0,1])).$

Lemma 9. Let ρ be as in theorem 6, then for any large enough N and any $\omega \in \Omega^1(X)$:

$$\inf_{\mathcal{A}^{N,\omega}} \sqrt{E^N} < \rho^N \sum_{j=0}^{g-1} |\omega_{|1}^{(j)}(0)|$$

Proof. This is a consequence of the Bernstein-Walsch theorem (see [14, Ch. VII] or [11, Th 6.3.1] for a more recent reference): since $\omega_{|p}$ extends as a holomorphic function on \mathbb{D} (for any p) and no further, then

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \inf_{Q \in \mathbb{C}^N[X]} \|Q - \omega_{|p}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)}^{1/N} = r,$$

where $r \in]0,1[$ is the smallest value such that $\omega_{|p}$ extends holomorphically to $H_p \sqcup \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus H_p}(z,\infty) < \log(1/r)\}$, meaning the smallest value such that $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus H_p}(z,\infty) < \log(1/r)\}$ is included in the disk \mathbb{D} . By definition of ρ we have, for any large enough N and any p:

$$\inf_{Q\in\mathbb{C}^N[X]} \|Q-\omega_{|p}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)} < \rho^N.$$

The result is then obtained from the fact that $\Omega^1(X)$ has finite dimension, E^N is a quadratic form and $\omega \in \Omega^1(X) \mapsto \sum_{j=0}^{g-1} |\omega_{|1}^{(j)}(0)|$ is a norm (since the origin of H_1 is supposed to be generic). \Box

Lemma 10. There exists a geometric constant C > 0 such that for any $P = (P_{|1}, \ldots, P_{|m}) \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m$ we have

$$F(P) \lesssim CaN^3 e^{NC/a} E^N(P)$$

Proof. Let $P = (P_{|1}, \ldots, P_{|m}) \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m$, let (p, i) and (q, j) be such that $(p, i) \to (q, j)$ and the gluing is made by some $g_{p,i} \in PSU(1, 1)$ of the form

$$g_{p,i}(z) = \frac{az+b}{z-\omega}$$

where $\omega := g_{p,i}^{-1}(\infty) \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$. We define

$$f(z) = P_{|p}(z) - g'_{p,i}(z)P_{|q}(g_{p,i}(z)) \in \frac{\mathbb{C}_{2N+2}[z]}{(z-\omega)^{N+2}}$$

Our goal is to give a bound of $||f||^2_{L^{\infty}(\gamma^a_{p,i})}$ by $\frac{1}{aN}\sum_{k=0}^{aN-1}|f(\gamma_{p,i}(k/aN))|^2$. Let $z = \gamma_{p,i}(t)$ for some $t \in [\frac{1}{a}, 1 - \frac{1}{a}]$. There exists some integer interval $\{s, s + 1, \ldots, s + 2N + 2\} \subset \{0, 1, 2, \ldots, aN\}$ such that, denoting $t_k = \frac{s+k}{aN}$, we have

$$t_N \leqslant t \leqslant t_{N+1}.$$

Denote also $z_k = \gamma_{p,i}(t_k)$. For some constant C > 0 that only depend on the geometry of $\gamma_{p,i}$ such that for any $s \neq t$ in $[t_0, t_{2N+2}]$ we have

$$e^{-C/a} \leqslant \frac{|\gamma_{p,i}(t) - \gamma_{p,i}(s)|}{L(\gamma_{p,i})|t - s|} \leqslant e^{C/a},$$

where $L(\gamma_{p,i})$ is the length of $\gamma_{p,i}$.

Since $(z - \omega)^{N+2} f(z)$ is a polynomial of degree 2N + 2 at most, then by classical Lagrange interpolation we have:

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{2N+2} \left(\frac{z_k - \omega}{z - \omega}\right)^{N+2} f(z_k) \prod_{l=0, \ l \neq k}^{2N+2} \frac{z - z_l}{z_k - z_l},$$

and so

$$|f(z)|^{2} \leq \left(\frac{1}{aN}\sum_{k=0}^{aN}|f(\gamma_{p,i}(k/aN))|^{2}\right) \left(aN\sum_{k=0}^{2N+2}\left|\frac{z_{k}-\omega}{z-\omega}\right|^{2N+4}\prod_{l=0,\ l\neq k}^{2N+2}\left|\frac{z-z_{l}}{z_{k}-z_{l}}\right|^{2}\right).$$

We now bound each term separately:

- $\left|\frac{z_k-\omega}{z-\omega}\right|^{2N+4} \leq e^{NC/a}$ for some geometric constant C > 0 (since $|z_k-\omega| \leq (1+C/a)|z-\omega|$ for some C > 0).
- $\prod_{l=0,\ l\neq k}^{2N+2} |z_k z_l| \ge e^{-(2N+2)C/a} L(\gamma_{p,i})^{2N+2} \prod_{l=0,\ l\neq k}^{2N+2} \left|\frac{k-l}{aN}\right|, \text{ since } |z_k z_l| > e^{-C/a} L(\gamma_{p,i}) \text{ for some } C > 0.$ The product $\prod_{l=0,\ l\neq k}^{2N+2} |k-l| = (k-1)!(2N+2-k)!$ is minimal at k = N+1 we have

$$\prod_{l=0, l\neq k}^{2N+2} |z_k - z_l| \ge e^{-(2N+2)C/a} L(\gamma_{p,i})^{2N+2} (aN)^{-2N-2} N! (N+1)!.$$

• $\prod_{l=0, l\neq k}^{2N+2} |z-z_l| \leq e^{(2N+2)C/a} L(\gamma_{p,i})^{2N+2} (aN)^{-2N-2} \prod_{l=0, l\neq k}^{2N+2} |r-k|$ where r := aNt - s is in the interval [N, N+1]. As a consequence, we find that

$$\prod_{l=0,\ l\neq k}^{2N+2} |z-z_l| \leq C e^{(2N+2)C/a} L(\gamma_{p,i})^{2N+2} (aN)^{-2N-2} (N+1)!^2$$

for some constant C > 0

From this we get (up to a possibly different geometric constant C > 0):

$$|f(z)|^2 \leq CaN^3 e^{NC/a} \left(\frac{1}{aN} \sum_{k=0}^{aN} |f(\gamma_{p,i}(k/aN))|^2 \right),$$

which implies the result.

Lemma 11. Let $\omega \in \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \mathbb{D}$ be fixed, the map $t \in [0, 1/4] \mapsto \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \gamma_{p,i}([t,1-t])}(\cdot, \omega) \in \mathcal{C}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{R})$ is continuous. *Proof.* There is a continuously-defined homography h_t that maps the circle arc $\gamma_{p,i}([t, 1-t])$ to the segment [-1, 1], then we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus\gamma_{p,i}([t,1-t])}(z,\omega) = \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus[-1,1]}(h_t(z),h_t(\omega)).$$

and $\mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus[-1,1]}$ is $\frac{1}{2}$ -Hölder.

Lemma 12. There exists $\beta > 0$ such that for any $P = (P_{|1}, \ldots, P_{|m}) \in \mathbb{C}_N[X]^m$, we have the inequality $G(P) \leq e^{N\beta/\sqrt{a}}F(P).$

$$G(I) \leq e^{-it}$$

Proof. Let

$$\beta = \max_{(p,i)} \max_{0 \leqslant t \leqslant 1/4} \sqrt{L(\gamma_{p,i})} \left[\left\| \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \gamma_{p,i}([t,1-t])}(\cdot,\infty) \right\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{D},\mathbb{C})} + \left\| \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \gamma_{p,i}([t,1-t])}(\cdot,g_{p,i}^{-1}(\infty)) \right\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{D},\mathbb{C})} \right],$$

which is finite by lemma 11 (note that $g_{p,i}^{-1}(\infty) \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$). We let

$$\mathcal{G}(z) = \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus\gamma_{p,i}([1/a,1-1/a])}(z,\infty) + \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus\gamma_{p,i}^{a}}(z,g_{p,i}^{-1}(\infty))$$

As previously, we let

$$f(z) = P_{|p}(z) - g'_{p,i}(z)P_{|q}(g_{p,i}(z)) \in \frac{\mathbb{C}_{2N+2}[z]}{(z-\omega)^{N+2}}$$

and

$$h(z) = \frac{1}{N} \log \frac{|f(z)|}{\|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\gamma_{p,i}^{a})}} - \mathcal{G}(z),$$

that we see as a function of $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \gamma_{p,i}^a$ with a (finite) number of logarithmic singularities. Without loss of generality we may slightly perturb f so that it does not vanish on $\gamma_{p,i}$. Notice then that:

- 1) $h \leq 0$ in $\gamma_{p,i}^a$.
- 2) h is subharmonic in $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \gamma_{p,i}^{a}$: in fact h is harmonic outside a finite number of logarithmic singularities at the zeroes of f (where h is then subharmonic) at and $\infty, g_{p,i}^{-1}(\infty)$ (where h is also subharmonic due to the degree condition of f).

Thus by maximum principle, $h \leq 0$ everywhere, so

$$|f(z)| \leqslant e^{N\mathcal{G}(z)} ||f||_{L^{\infty}(\gamma_{p,i}^{a})}.$$

Since every point of $\mathcal{N}^{\frac{2L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(\gamma_{p,i}^{a})$ has distance $\frac{2L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}$ to some point of $\gamma_{p,i}^{a}$, then by the definition of the constant β we have for any $z \in \mathcal{N}^{\frac{2L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(\gamma_{p,i}^{a})$

$$\mathcal{G}(z) \leqslant \beta/\sqrt{a},$$

which gives is the expected result.

Lemma 13. There exists a constant $c_a > 0$ such that, for any

$$f = (f_{|1}, \dots, f_{|m}) \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^{\frac{L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(H_1)) \times \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^{\frac{L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(H_2)) \times \dots \times \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^{\frac{L(\gamma_{p,i})}{a}}(H_m))$$

we have

$$c_a \sum_{p=1}^m \|f_{|p}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)} \leq G(f)^{1/2} + \sum_{j=0}^{g-1} |f_{|1}^{(j)}(0)|.$$

The constant c_a that we obtain here is not explicit due to the fact that our proof is done by contradiction and compactness: it depends on the geometry and on a in a non-trivial way.

Proof. Suppose that this statement is false. Then there exists a sequence $f^k = (f_{|1}^k, \ldots, f_{|m}^k)$ verifying

$$G(f^k) + \sum_{j=0}^{g-1} |f_1^{k(j)}(0)| \xrightarrow[k \to \infty]{} 0$$

and for any k:

$$\sum_{p=1}^{m} \|f_{|p}^{k}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_{p})} = 1.$$

Claim: there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\sum_{p=1}^{m} \|f_{|p}^{k}\|_{L^{\infty}(\tilde{H}_{p})} \leq C,$$

where \tilde{H}_p is a neighbourhood of H_p .

This is obtained by induction. Let us first remind that, denoting L the minimal length among alls sides, we have

$$G(f^{k}) \ge \sum_{(p,i)\to(q,j)} \|f_{|p}^{k} - g_{p,i}'f_{|q}^{k} \circ g_{p,i}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{N}^{\frac{L}{a}}(\gamma_{p,i}))}^{2}.$$

• For every $p = 1, \ldots, m$, we have

$$\|f_{|p}^k\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)} \leq 1.$$

• For every (p, i), denote $(q_{p,i}, j_{p,i})$ the corresponding edge. Then for every $z \in \mathcal{N}^{\frac{L}{a}}(\gamma_{p,i}) \cap g_{p,i}^{-1}(H_{q_{p,i}})$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |f_{|p}^{k}(z)| &\leq |f_{|p}^{k}(z) - g_{p,i}'(z)f_{|q_{p,i}}^{k} \circ g_{q_{p,i},j_{p,i}}(z)| + |g_{p,i}'(z)f_{|q_{p,i}}^{k} \circ g_{p,i}(z)| \\ &\leq G(f^{k})^{\frac{1}{2}} + \|g_{p,i}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})}. \end{aligned}$$

• For every p, and every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let $H_p^{(n)}$ be the set defined inductively by

$$\begin{cases} H_p^{(0)} = H_p \\ H_p^{(n)} = H_p^{(n-1)} \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^{c(p)} \left(\mathcal{N}^{\frac{L}{a}}(\gamma_{p,i}) \cap g_{p,i}^{-1}(H_{q_{p,i}}^{(n-1)}) \right). \end{cases}$$

Then by the same computation as above, each $f_{|p}$ is bounded independently of k in $L^{\infty}(H_p^{(n)})$ by

$$\sup_{p=1,\dots,m} \|f_{|p}^k\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p^{(n)})} \leq G(f^k)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sup_{(p,i)} \|g_{p,i}'\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})}\right) \left(\sup_{p=1,\dots,m} \|f_{|p}^k\|_{H_p^{(n-1)}}\right).$$

• Taking n to be larger than the maximal number of vertices of the polygons (H_p) that are identified to a single point (we may take the worst case with $n > c(1) + c(2) + \ldots + c(m)$), then $H_p^{(n)}$ is a neighbourhood of H_p in \mathbb{D} , that is denoted \tilde{H}_p in the claim.

In particular, up to extraction we may suppose that each $f_{|p}^k$ converges locally uniformly in a (possibly smaller) neighbourhood of H_p to some limit $f_{|p}$ when $k \to \infty$, and the limits verify the periodicity relation

$$f_{|p} = g'_{p,i} f_{|q} \circ g_{p,i}$$

when $(p, i) \to (q, j)$. As a consequence, $f = (f_{|1}, \ldots, f_{|m})$ is an element of $\Omega^1(X)$, that is non-zero since $\sum_{p=1}^m \|f_{|p}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)} = 1$ (because this is verified by $f_{|p}^k$, which converges to $f_{|p}$ up to the boundary), and such that $\sum_{j=0}^{g-1} |f_{|1}^{(j)}(0)| = 0$: this is in contradiction with the fact that 0 is not a Weierstrass point, meaning that $\omega \in \Omega^1(X) \mapsto (\omega_{|1}(0), \ldots, \omega_{|1}^{(g-1)}(0))$ must be injective. \Box

We may now prove the theorem 6:

Proof. By the previous results we have

$$\begin{split} G(P^{N,\omega}) &\leqslant e^{\frac{\beta}{\sqrt{a}}N} F(P^{N,\omega}) & \text{by lemma 12} \\ &\leqslant CaN^3 e^{\left[\frac{C}{a} + \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{a}}\right]N} E^N(P^{N,\omega}) & \text{by lemma 10.} \end{split}$$

Let now ρ be as in the statement of theorem 6, let $\rho' < \rho$ still verifying the same lower bound. We may choose a large enough such that

$$\rho' e^{\frac{C}{a} + \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{a}}} < \rho.$$

Then by lemma 9 we have, for large enough N:

$$G(P^{N,\omega}) \leqslant \rho^{2N}.$$

We apply now lemma 13 to $P^{N,\omega} - \omega$; note that $G(P^{N,\omega} - \omega) = G(P^{N,\omega})$ by the periodicity of ω , and the first g - 1 derivatives of $P_{|1}^{N,\omega} - \omega_{|1}$ at $0 \in H_1$ are zero, so:

$$c_a \sum_{p=1}^m \|P_{|p}^{N,\omega} - \omega_{|p}\|_{L^{\infty}(H_p)} \leq G(P^{N,\omega} - \omega)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq \rho^N.$$

Let us briefly comment on the fact that the lower bound on ρ given in theorem 6 is optimal: suppose that the convergence is still valid for some ρ strictly lower than this bound, meaning that for some p the set

$$\{z \in \mathbb{C} : \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus H_n}(z, \infty) < \log(1/\rho)\}$$

is not included in the disk \mathbb{D} . Then by Bernstein-Walsh theorem this gives us an extension of $\omega_{|p}$ to the set $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : \mathcal{G}_{\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus H_p}(z, \infty) < \log(1/\rho)\}$ which contains a point of $\partial \mathbb{D}$: this is a contradiction, as the functions $\omega_{|p}$ cannot be extended beyond the boundary $\partial \mathbb{D}$.

A Some meromorphic functions on genus 2 surfaces



Figure 8: Pole of order 1 on Bolza's surface. The Real part.



Figure 9: Pole of order 1 on Bolza's surface. The Imaginary part.



Figure 10: Pole of order 3 on $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ surface. The Real part.



Figure 11: Pole of order 3 on $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ surface. The Imaginary part.



Figure 12: Pole of order 6 on $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ surface. The Real part.



Figure 13: Pole of order 6 on $D_6 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ surface. The Imaginary part.

References

- Oskar Bolza. On binary sextics with linear transformations into themselves. American Journal of Mathematics, pages 47–70, 1887.
- [2] Pablo D Brubeck and Lloyd N Trefethen. Lightning stokes solver. SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, 44(3):A1205–A1226, 2022.
- [3] N. D. Elkies and J. Kieffer. A uniform quasi-linear time algorithm for evaluating theta functions in any dimension. In preparation.
- [4] Hershel M Farkas, Irwin Kra, Hershel M Farkas, and Irwin Kra. *Riemann surfaces*. Springer, 1992.
- [5] Jörg Frauendiener and Christian Klein. Computational approach to hyperelliptic riemann surfaces. *Letters in mathematical physics*, 105(3):379–400, 2015.
- [6] Abinand Gopal and Lloyd N Trefethen. New laplace and helmholtz solvers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(21):10223–10225, 2019.
- [7] Abinand Gopal and Lloyd N Trefethen. Solving laplace problems with corner singularities via rational functions. *SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis*, 57(5):2074–2094, 2019.
- [8] John H Hubbard. Teichmüller theory and applications to geometry, topology, and dynamics, volume 2. Matrix Editions, 2016.
- [9] F. Johansson. Arb: efficient arbitrary-precision midpoint-radius interval arithmetic. *IEEE Transactions on Computers*, 66:1281–1292, 2017.
- [10] Chiu-Yen Kao, Braxton Osting, and Édouard Oudet. Harmonic functions on finitely connected tori. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 61(6):2795–2812, 2023.
- [11] Thomas Ransford. Potential theory in the complex plane, volume 28 of Lond. Math. Soc. Stud. Texts. Cambridge: Univ. Press, 1995.
- [12] Lloyd N Trefethen. Series solution of laplace problems. The ANZIAM Journal, 60(1):1–26, 2018.
- [13] Lloyd N Trefethen. Polynomial and rational convergence rates for laplace problems on planar domains. Proceedings of the Royal Society A, 480(2295):20240178, 2024.

[14] J. L. Walsh. Interpolation and approximation by rational functions in the complex domain., volume 20 of Colloq. Publ., Am. Math. Soc. American Mathematical Society (AMS), Providence, RI, 1935.